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The spirit of UKZN as the Premier University of African Scholarship resides in the diverse physical body of
its staff and students and the physical bricks and mortar of its buildings. These extensive buildings house
a seat of higher learning, facilities for administration and research; provide a home for academic freedom;
and advance knowledge.

In the same way that the spirit of a University resides in its teachers and scholars and physical structures, in
this Annual Report the physical University is illustrated and brought to life with the individual building blocks

Report of the

Chair of Council

Growth & Sustainability

Mr M Mia
“Council, together with the Executive,
continued throughout the period
under review to place emphasis on

The role and functions of the Council are set out in the University of KwaZulu-Natal (UKZN) Statute
and the Higher Education Act, which both prescribe and describe the manner in which
Council governs the University.

instilling the University’s core values,
including a deep commitment to
academic excellence and sound and
effective management.”

An important ancillary role of the Council

Academic Excellence

infrastructural development needed to lay the

is to foster a culture and practice of good

UKZN has been placed as one of the top

foundations for the achievement of excellence

corporate governance, which together provide

three universities in Africa by recognised World

in teaching and learning across all disciplines.

the framework essential for efficient and

Rankings.

effective operations to ensure the growth and

Technology has rated UKZN amongst the big

Council paid due regard to the importance

sustainability of the Institution. In recognition of

five Universities in South Africa and it has been

of the Institutional Audit that took place

this ethos, Council, together with the Executive,

acknowledged to be one of the most complex

during October 2008 following 22 months

continued throughout the period under review

institutions of its kind in the country as measured

of intensive preparation. Primarily, the Audit

to place emphasis on instilling the University’s

by a complexity index. The UKZN brand is also

assessed the Institution’s “fitness of purpose

core values, including a deep commitment to

extremely popular among youth as revealed

and fitness for purpose.” In addition, the Audit

academic excellence and sound and effective

in recent national surveys.

These are clear

evaluated the consolidation of the merger

management, which form the basis on which

indicators of the Institution’s growing reputation.

and the core operations of the University that

the University of KwaZulu-Natal has been built.

In this regard, I am pleased to report that the

guide excellence in the areas of teaching,

Giving effect to such a commitment has meant

former Minister of Education, the Honourable Dr

research and community outreach. Council

appropriate policy development, amongst other

Naledi Grace Pandor, expressed her immense

acknowledges the significant contributions

measures, to guide organisational behaviour.

confidence in the University’s leadership during

made by the University community in preparing

her visit to the Westville campus in March 2008

for the Audit and the generally positive outcome

In general, 2008 was again an excellent year

when she officially opened the R90 million

of the endeavour in that UKZN was found to be

for UKZN, as evidenced by increased research

state-of-the-art Biological and Conservation

“fit for and of” purpose.

output, improved student throughput rates

Sciences Building and visited the new R130

despite reduced enrolment figures, ongoing

million, 885-bed residence on the Westville

internationalisation

community

campus. The injection of substantial funding by

engagement initiatives, significant infrastructural

the Department of Education into the teaching

development and media coverage, all of which

infrastructure has augured well for a young

are alluded to in this report.

University as it continues to strive to acquire

activities,

The Department of Science and

world-class facilities. Council is committed to the
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Report of the Chair of Council

Report of the Chair of Council

A Research-Led Organisation with

engendering peace at an academic level that

University; Professor Renuka Vithal, Deputy

Consistent with this approach the University’s

Global Partnerships

will impact practically on communities. It also

Vice-Chancellor, Teaching and Learning, a

Fraud Policy was adopted by Council in 2008.

University’s

operationalises the partnership between UKZN

new and critical strategic portfolio; Professor

This reaffirmed that Council will not tolerate

The Minister of Science and Technology in South

strategic thrust as a research-led institution

and the Indian Council for Cultural Relations in

Jane Meyerowitz, the second Registrar of the

dishonesty, fraud and corruption. Similarly, acts

Africa selected Professor Makgoba to deliver

On Council’s behalf, I record appreciation to

has contributed to its success as the second

addressing societal imperatives in line with the

University and Mr Charles Poole, Executive

that undermine the integrity of UKZN’s degrees

the 2008 Philip Tobias Lecture and receive an

the Vice-Chancellor, Executive and the wider

most productive Higher Education Institution in

development agenda.

Director, Physical Planning and Operations.

will also be met with swift and appropriate

award in September 2008. Council congratulates

University community members for their roles in

On behalf of Council, I wish to thank Dr Edith

corrective measures.

Professor Makgoba and we thank him for his

ensuring that UKZN remains at the forefront of

steadfast quest to leave a legacy of academic

tertiary institutions in South Africa.

Council

recognises

that

the

terms of its research output in the country. This

for their diligence and meaningful contributions
which made my task a lot lighter.

top-two placing for the University has been the

I am pleased to report that the Carnegie

Mneney, the founding Registrar of the University,

case consistently since 2004. The substantial

Foundation has expressed immense confidence

for her invaluable contribution during her term

The Governance and Academic

excellence and to realise the mission and vision of

investment in research is a show of confidence

in UKZN’s Leadership and Equity Advancement

of office.

Freedom Committee

the Premier University of African Scholarship.

in the University’s leadership, governance and

Programme (LEAP), which the Foundation has

scientific expertise.

funded over the years. In addition, the Mellon

Portfolio Presentations

academic freedom at UKZN, the Executive

Appreciation

Foundation in the United States has committed

The Members of the Executive of the University

Committee of the Council of the University, with

I record Council’s appreciation of the significant

Council acknowledges with pride the signing

further funding to support the development of

have all been invited to do portfolio presentations

the encouragement of the National Department

contribution made by student leadership to good

of the Memorandum of Agreement between

young academics in the Humanities over a four

to the full Council. This process began in 2007

of Education, appointed a committee to examine

governance at UKZN. In particular, the role of the

the Howard Hughes Medical Institute (HHMI)

year period. In South Africa, the Department

and continued in 2008 serving to give Council

issues pertaining to governance and academic

President of the Central Students’ Representative

and UKZN by Professors TR Cech and MW

of Education has funded the Clinical Health

members significant insight into the planning,

freedom at the University of KwaZulu-Natal. The

Council, Mr Sandile Phakathi, is acknowledged

Makgoba to establish the KwaZulu-Natal

Sciences Training Programme. Such funding

goals and achievements of the University in

committee was tasked to furnish a report to

with gratitude.

Research Institute for Tuberculosis and HIV

from prestigious institutions indicates the level

relation to the Strategic Plan and the University’s

Council in May 2009, the recommendations of

(K-RITH), which took place in Washington in

of confidence that our University enjoys.

vision.

which would be implemented thereafter.

Following recent contestation in relation to

This exercise allows Council to give

On behalf of Council, I wish to pay special tribute
to Dr Vincent Maphai as the founding Chair of

informed strategic direction and policy to the

September 2008 and was followed by a public
announcement in March 2009. The agreement

Union - Management Negotiations

University. In return, feedback received by

Leadership Highlights

Council whose term of office ended in June 2008.

stipulates that the HHMI will contribute

Council was pleased to note that, for the

Executive members from Council has served to

Professor Makgoba’s leadership at the helm of an

During his leadership, the new University acquired

Mr M Mia

approximately US$60 million over a 10 year

first time in several years, salary negotiations

foster greater focus towards the implementation

Institution which has faced enormous challenges

an identity, governance mechanisms and policies

Chair of Council

period to build a world-class research institute

between the Management and Unions were

of strategic initiatives.

since its establishment in 2004 is recognised.

were formulated, and optimisation reviews to

investigating the link between TB and HIV.

settled before the new year and could therefore

He is relentless in his pursuit of excellence and

improve service delivery undertaken. He will be

Almost $20 million is to be used for infrastructural

be included in the 2009 budget and, further,

Policy Development

Council congratulates him and the Executive

remembered for his wisdom and courage as

development,

sophisticated

that Unions supported the implementation

To further entrench good governance, a Code

for their efforts that have contributed to the

he steered the University through a historic and

laboratories which will be integrated with the

of a Performance Management System. It is

of Conduct, including disciplinary provisions

recognition of UKZN as one of only three on the

momentous period in our history.

existing Doris Duke Medical Research Institute,

expected that greater efficiencies will result from

for Council and Executive members, was

African continent to be placed within the top 500

and the remainder of the grant is to be used

such a roll out.

developed and adopted in 2008. Principles

in the world by the Academic Ranking World

The work of any council is largely done through its

such as “acting in the best interests of the

of Universities.

Committees. The Finance Committee, the Audit

including

to finance the research itself. The venture is

04

role in the HIV and AIDS epidemic.

expected to yield significant discoveries that will

Executive Appointments

alleviate the human suffering that is caused by

Council

the

avoiding breaches of trust, the maintenance of

Council also noted with pride that Professor

Chain Management Committee, the Staffing

these diseases.

appointment of the following Executives during

confidentiality, attendance and participation

Makgoba has been appointed the third chair of

Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the

the course of 2008: Mr Hollie Clarkson, Chief

in meetings” are all, amongst other matters,

the joint Nelson Mandela/Chissano Foundations

Resources Planning Committee and the Executive

The launch of the Gandhi-Luthuli Chair in Peace

Finance Officer; Professor Nelson Ijumba,

embedded in the Code.

to direct the implementation of the hyper-

Staff Selection Committee all did sterling work in

Studies in November 2008 symbolised the

Deputy Vice-Chancellor, Research, the first

endemic scenario project for the AIDS 2031.This

the year under review. My sincere appreciation

University’s demonstrated responsibility towards

African academic to hold this position at the

appointment is in recognition of UKZN’s scholarly

and gratitude is due to all members of Council

2008

annual
report

was

pleased

to

and Risk Committee, the Procurement and Supply

University, acting in good faith and independently,
announce
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Officers & Members of Council

Major Committees of Council
For the year ended 31 December 2008

As at 31 December 2008

Analysis of Membership, Representation on Major Committees of Council and Attendance Statistics
COMMITTEES OF
COUNCIL		
		
ARC FC RC RPC CMC

NAME / CATEGORY OF MEMBERSHIP		
		
Executive Committee of Council
1

Dr TV Maphai (Chair to 30 June 2008)

(4)

2

Mr M Mia : Chair (from 1 July 2008)

(4)

6

Mrs P Mnganga : Vice-Chair (from 1 July 2008)

(1)

5

Prof MW Makgoba : Vice-Chancellor

(2)

3

Prof D Jaganyi : Appointed 1 May 2008

(3)

4

Mr K Mabaso

(3)

7

Prof JC Mubangizi : Appointed 1 May 2008

(2)

8

Mrs P Ntombela-Nzimande (Alternate)

(4)

9

Adv PJ Olsen

(4)

10

Dr J Phaahla

(1)

11

Mr S Phakathi : Appointed 1 October 2008

(5)

12

Ms F Shabala

(5)

13

Mrs SE Skweyiya

(1)

√
√

√

√

TOTAL
COUNCIL MEETING ATTENDANCES		
OVERALL
			
Feb					
May
June
Aug
Oct
Nov
No.
%

P

P

Ap

P

Ap

67%

P

P

P

P

P

100%

P

P

4

67%

Mr P Naidoo

P

P

P

P

P

P

100%

P

P

P

6

100%

M T Ngwenya

P

Ap

P

P

Ap

Ap

50%

P

P

P

P

5

100%

Dr J Phaahla

Ap

P

Ap

P

P

Ap

50%

P

P

P

P

P

6

100%

Mr B Sibiya

Ap

Ap

P

P

Ap

Ap

33%

P

P

P

P

P

5

100%

P

P

P

Ap

P

P

5

83%

Total Attendance (%)

71%

71%

71%

86%

71%

43%

69%

P

P

P

P

P

P

6

100%

P

P

Ap

P

P

P

5

83%

P

P

2

100%

Nov

%

3

75%

86%

6

100%

Ap

Ap

P

√

P

P

P

P

P

P

P

Ap

P

P

P

P
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Dr R Badal : Appointed 1 May 2008

(1)

16

Prof SME Bengu

(1)

17

Ms K Dasi : Appointed 1 October 2008

(5)

18

Prof K Govinder

(3)

19

Dr C M Hendricks

(1)

20

Mrs MM Jean-Louis

(1)

21

Mr T Maistry

(3)

22

Mr K Makan : Appointed 1 July 2008

(1)

23

Prof M P Mangaliso

(1)

P

P

24

Mr K Mshengu (SRC)

(5)

P

P

25

Ms G Mtombeni

(1)

√

P

26

Mr S Ngcobo

(1)

√

27

Mr MT Ngwenya

(4)

28

Prof D North

(3)

29

Mr AGS Osman : Appointed 29 August 2008

(4)

30

Cllr F Peer

(1)

31

Mr B Sibiya

(1)

32

Prof DJ Spurrett

(3)

33

Prof LR Uys

(2)

34

Mr AD Young

(1)

P

P

P

Ap

P

P

P

Ap

4

67%

P

P

P

P

P

5

100%

Ap

Ap

1

33%

P

P

2

100%

P

Ap

P

P

Ap

Ap

3

50%

P

Ap

P

P

P

A

4

67%

Ap

Ap

P

P

P

P

4

67%

Ap

P

P

P

P

P

5

83%

Ap

Ap

Ap

0

0

Ap

P

Ap

Ap

3

50%

Ap

P

3

75%

P

P

P

P

P

6

100%

A

Ap

P

P

P

P

4

67%

A

Ap

Ap

P

Ap

P

2

33%

P

P

Ap

P

P

P

5

83%

P

P

2

100%

√

Members

Jan

Feb

Mar

Apr

May

Sp*

Jun

Jul

Aug

Mr M Mia (Chair to 30 June 2008) (ex officio)

P

P

P

P

P

P

Ap

Mr SC Ngcobo : Chair (from 1 July 2008)

Ap

P

P

A

P

P

P

71%

Mr R H Clarkson

P

P

P

P

P

P

P

100%

Prof K S Govinder

Ap

P

P

P

P

P

Ap

71%

Prof MW Makgoba

P

Ap

Ap

Ap

P

Ap

P

43%

Ms P Ntombela-Nzimande

Ap

Ap

Ap

Ap

Ap

Ap

Ap

0%

P

100%

P

100%

Ms F Shabalala (SRC)

A

A

A

A

A

A

Prof D J Spurrett

P

P

P

A

P

P

P

86%

Mr AD Young

P

P

P

P

A

P

P

86%

Total Attendance (%)

56%

67%

67%

44%

67%

67%

70%

63%

Mar

Apr

May

Members

Jan

Feb

Jun

Jul

Aug

Sep

Oct

Nov

Ms P Mnganga : Chair

P

P

P

P

100%

Mr M Mia (ex officio)

P

P

Ap

P

75%

Ms R Budree

P

P

P

P

100%

Prof SY Essack

P

P

P

P

100%

P

P

P

100%

P

P

P

P

Ap

5

83%

Prof MW Makgoba

P

Ap

P

P

Ap

P

4

67%

Ms G Mtombeni

P

P

P

P

P

P

P

6

100%

Mr SC Ngcobo

P

P

Ap

P

P

P

5

83%

Mrs S E Skweyiya

Ap

P

P

P

P

P

5

83%

Total Attendance (%)

Total Attendance

22

21

22

26

25

24

140

Total Membership

27

30

30

29

30

30

176

Overall Attendance
(as a % of maximum possible)

81%

70%

73%

90%

83%

80%

2008

0%

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE (“REMCO”)

P
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Oct

Mr AGS Osman

P

KEY TO COUNCIL COMMITTEES
KEY TO ATTENDANCE
ARC Audit & Risk Committee			
Not a member during this period
FC
Finance Committee			
P
Present
RC
Remuneration Committee		
Ap
Apologies for non-attendance
RPC Resource Planning Committee		
A
Absent without apology
CMC Council Membership Committee		

Sep

Mr FS Phakathi (SRC)

√

KEY TO CATEGORIES OF MEMBERSHIP
(1) Independent non-executive Council members
(2) Executive Management representatives
(3) Employee representatives RC		
(4) Government-appointed representatives
(5) Student representatives CMC		

83%

FINANCE COMMITTEE

√

√

%

P

15

√

Dec

P

P

√

Nov

Ms L Francois

P

√

Oct

Prof H Africa

(1)

√

Sep

100%

Prof H Africa

√

Aug

6

Other Members of Council

√

Jul

P

14

√

Jun

P

√

√

May

P

P

√

Apr

P

P

√

Mar

Ap

P

√

Feb

P

P

√

Jan
P

P

√

								

Members

Mrs MM Jean-Louis : Chair

P

P

√

AUDIT & RISK COMMITTEE 				

100%

P

√

Analysis of Attendance at Major Committees of Council for the year ended 31 December 2008

3

P
√
√

						

Dec

%

Ap

Ap

Ap

25%

P

P

P

100%

P

P

P

Ap

75%

100%

88%

75%

75%

84%

KEY TO ATTENDANCE								
80%

		
Not a member during the highlighted period 		
								
Sp*
Special meeting (May 2008)				

Other Office Bearers (In attendance at Council)

P
Ap
A

Present 				
Apologies for non-attendance				
Absent without apology				

Auditors					

Prof JJ Meyerowitz		
Registrar			
KPMG Inc.
SAB & T Inc.		
Mr RH Clarkson		
Chief Finance Officer		
P O Box 1496
PO Box 30108		
							
Durban, 4000
Mayville, 4058		
												
												
									
									

Bankers			

Postal Address

First National Bank		
University of KwaZulu-Natal
P O Box 4130		
Private Bag X 54001
The Square		
Durban
Umhlanga Rocks		
4320		
2008
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Report of the

Vice-Chancellor
		 and Principal

Growing Our Society

Professor MW Makgoba
“Increased confidence in the Institution

Five years after a historic merger, the University of KwaZulu-Natal (UKZN) has adequately met the
entire objectives set up by government for the merger.

may be gauged by the extent of
growth in government funding, the

The new University’s quest for creating a new

Faculty on the Pietermaritzburg and Howard

with regards to social cohesion so soon after the

ongoing support by donors and funders

and excellent teaching and learning environment,

College campuses, and two Access Centres

merger while facing enormous challenges.

and by the numbers of students

high quality relevant and appropriate research

— UNITE and the Science Access Centre.

that

impacts

significantly

on

Relevant Research

knowledge

graduating each year with appropriate

production and scholarship is receiving great

These visits were generally well attended

UKZN has established an international reputation

attention from donors and funders, staff,

and all the meetings were frank but cordial.

for academic excellence and outstanding

qualifications and skills.”

students and the general public. Increased

There was evidence of considerable goodwill

research output based on African scholarship.

confidence in the Institution may be gauged by

and commitment to the University by staff.

As one of South Africa’s five pre-eminent

the extent of growth in government funding, the

Approximately 1 200 staff attended and

research institutions, UKZN provides a dynamic

ongoing support by donors and funders and

participated in these meetings, which revealed

environment for all facets of the research and

by the numbers of students graduating each

a number of positive achievements and issues

innovation spectrum. The research activities

year with appropriate qualifications and skills to

of concern to academic staff. Teaching facilities,

span the biomedical, natural and social sciences

make a significant contribution to knowledge,

staff salaries and perceived inefficiencies

and the humanities.

the economy and society. The extent of this

associated with some Divisions in the support

success is alluded to throughout this report with

sector were raised and these have all been

A hundred and fifty one academics and

the following representing some of the highlights

addressed subsequently.

researchers at UKZN are rated by the National
Research Foundation (NRF), which provides

of UKZN’s activities and initiatives which reflect

a benchmark for research standing. The

minds, skilling intellectuals and producing

Transformation, Social Cohesion and
the Elimination of Discrimination

knowledge which has global impact inspired

A total of 85 participants from UKZN’s Council,

each year in research grants and contracts.

from local conditions.

senior management, SRC, academics, the

UKZN has a considerable network of research

Institutional Forum, Convocation and the four

partnerships

Engaging with the
Academic Comunity

Unions engaged with the Ministerial Committee

agreements with leading universities and other

on Transformation, Social Cohesion and the

research institutions around the world.

the positive trajectory of developing critical

08
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University’s researchers attract millions of rand

and

academic

exchange

During June and July 2008 I undertook a series

Elimination of Discrimination in Higher Education

of visits to the University’s academic Schools.

Institutions. The Committee was impressed with

There is a vast array of research being conduct-

These visits included a total of 63 one-hour

the openness, the diversity of voices and the

ed within the University which has direct rele-

interactions with: 52 Schools, seven Faculty

broad participation by UKZN staff and noted the

vance to the issues confronting both the African

Office staff, two separate visits to the Law

important progress that the University has made

Continent and, indeed, the global community.

2008
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report
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Report of Vice-Chancellor & Principal

During 2008, the African Centre for Food Security
(ACFS) led by Professor Sheryl Hendriks was
awarded a US$ 3.5 million (R26.2 million) sub-

Report of Vice-Chancellor & Principal

Cutting-Edge Research:
A Unique Partnership with the Howard
Hughes Medical Institute (HHMI)

“Empowering Rural Women in Business: the

UKZN signed a Memorandum of Agreement

The student population was registered in the

It is gratifying to note a significant increase in the

Inina Experience” received a prestigious Global

with the Taibah University, Medina, Saudi

four Colleges as follows:

University’s consolidated income for the past

Best Award for the African region in 2008. The

Arabia on 19 November 2008, which will

College of Agriculture, Engineering

promote new research opportunities and

and Science

student exchange programmes.

contract by USAID to conduct food security

Plans to build a multi-million rand medical

year, particularly in the level of externally-funded

Inina Craft Agency is a profitable business which

analysis over a five-year period. The study will

research institute at UKZN to undertake research

grants and contracts, which have contributed

markets products on behalf of women producers

examine food vulnerability in Malawi, Tanzania

on the diagnosis, pathogenesis, prevention and

to an increase in turnover of R517 million, or 27

in the Eshowe area of KwaZulu-Natal.

and South Africa and will design measures to

treatment of HIV and Tuberculosis (TB) were

percent, for the year. It is pleasing to report a

assist households to provide for themselves

laid when a partnership agreement was signed

net consolidated surplus of R99 million, despite

and increase their resilience.

between HHMI and UKZN on 24 September

adverse budget variances in the Main (operating)

2008. The institute will be funded by the HHMI.

“Council-controlled” fund. It is evident that the

In collaboration with a number of national

rapid growth in the University during the past few

Energy Management

19%

College of Health Sciences

15%

College of Humanities

40 %

UKZN’s Students in Free Enterprise (SIFE)

Given the constraints faced by Eskom, the

won first place against 17 other South African

University Council and the Executive felt it

College of Law and

universities in the National Competition. The

was imperative that an energy management

Management Studies

students are involved in a number of projects

strategy be put in place to minimise the

to help community members prosper in their

disruptive effects of load shedding that could

UKZN conferred 7 951 degrees and certificates

business activities.

impact on the Institution’s core operations

at 21 graduation ceremonies during April

and, thereafter, to effect consumption and

2008. 177 graduands received their degrees

International Collaboration

cost savings. In this regard, Mr Greg Diana, an

summa cum laude and there were 216 cum

Currently, UKZN has links with more than 250

academic in the School of Electrical, Electronic

laude graduands. One hundred and thirty eight

international institutions, which facilitate ongoing

and Computer Engineering, was appointed to

doctorates, 616 Masters, 1 048 Honours, 4 563

collaborative academic partnerships.

lead this process.

bachelors and 1 586 certificates were conferred

26 %

and international bodies, UKZN’s Pollution

The promise of approximately US$ 60 million

years has, to some extent, been subsidised by

Research Group (PRG) is playing an active role

to build a world class research institute in

the University’s infrastructural and administrative

in advancing sustainable sanitation in Africa.

TB and HIV research on the Medical School

support services without a commensurate (full)

campus

cutting-edge

recovery of related overhead expenses. This

The year 2008 also saw the launch of a three-

research in TB and HIV over a 10-year period

matter is, however, being addressed in the

year research project on gender equality

is a show of immense confidence and faith

current year and measures have been taken

policies and practices in the education sector

in the University’s leadership that resonates

by Executive management to redress the

in Kenya and South Africa. Dr Jenni Karlsson

with our global partners. It demonstrates not

imbalances between the Council-controlled

of the University’s School of Education and

A Memorandum of Understanding with the

only the University’s impeccable reputation for

and other funds. The University’s financial

Staffing

graduands. Women constituted 59 percent of

Development is part of an international team

University of Antananarivo, Madagascar, was

UKZN employed 4 530 permanent and long-

excellence in scientific research, but also its

position at 31 December 2008 continued to be

the total number of graduates.

signed in February 2008 and will see the launch

term contract staff in 2008, of whom 1 435

that is conducting this research. A research

integrity in governance and accountability.

relatively sound and reflected a growth in total

of collaborative research projects and student

were academic and 3 095 were support staff.

assets of almost 6 percent for the year. This,

On behalf of the Executive, I take this opportunity

exchange.

Women constituted 56,3 percent of staff. Several

to thank the Council for its leadership and the

women occupy senior leadership positions in

many committed staff and students who have

Academics from the College of Health Sciences

the University. UKZN has developed a number

worked and contributed to placing UKZN on

shared their expertise with academics from

of equity strategies and programmes for

the cutting edge of the knowledge production
imperative.

and

to

undertake

grant to the University from the United
Council will enable fieldwork to be conducted

Investing in Learning and
Research Infrastructure

in KwaZulu-Natal.

UKZN has committed substantial resources to

Kingdom’s Economic and Social Research

10

Finance

and awarded and there were 55 disabled

in turn, is attributable largely to ongoing capital
expenditure.

providing world-class teaching and research

The University’s financial position and results

Drake University, Iowa, USA. They helped

nurturing and developing the next generation

Physicists at UKZN’s Centre for Quantum

facilities. The R90 million new Biological and

for the year are commented upon more fully

develop a course for Drake undergraduate

of academics.

Technology under the leadership of Professor

Conservation Sciences Building on the Westville

in the Chief Finance Officer’s Annual Financial

students which will make them more aware of

Francesco Petruccione are set to make quantum

campus was officially opened by the Minister

Review and in the audited annual financial

the social issues which accompany prevailing

Students

history. They are working on a quantum security

of Education, Dr Naledi Grace Pandor, on 20

statements, which are to be found elsewhere

health problems within communities.

A total of 37 478 students registered for study

system for the eThekwini Municipality’s fibre-

March 2008. The year 2008 also saw the long-

in this Annual Report.

at UKZN in 2008. Of these, 58 percent were
The School of Nursing is collaborating with

women and 42 percent men. Undergraduates

Community Engagement

Virginia Commonwealth University in the United

constituted 78 percent of all students, with

Westville campus was completely refurbished

UKZN has committed itself and all its resources

States of America to develop the clinical skills

postgraduate students making up the balance

In line with its vision to be the Premier University

and now boasts state-of-the-art laboratories

to the common good of society. More than

of undergraduate nursing students enrolled at

of 22 percent of the total student population.

of African Scholarship, the University has

and equipment. The Science and Technology

350 outreach projects are managed by

received R1.5 million to establish a laboratory

Education Centre, a R5.5 million project on

the University, ranging from HIV and AIDS

in Indigenous Health Care Systems – a first for

the Westville campus, was officially opened

projects, to upgrading the skills of Science and

UKZN which is led by Professor Nceba Gqaleni.

by the Minister of Science and Technology,

Mathematics teachers, to food security and

The plan to secure an additional R7 million in

Dr Mosibudi Mangena, on 10 October 2008.

community tourism projects.

2009 will give this relevant and unique area of

The Centre aims to stimulate an awareness of

research the impetus it requires.

and interest in science and technology among

The Centre for Environment, Agriculture and

learners, educators and the public.

Development

optic network infrastructure, which will make the

awaited opening of the new residence on the

City of Durban the world’s first Quantum City.

Westville campus. The Science Block on the

2008
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(CEAD)’s

outreach

UKZN and Virginia using internet strategies.
The Graduate School of Business hosted
52 MBA students from the Indian Institute of
Planning and Management in August. This
initiative aimed to expose students to the

initiative,

operations of business outside their home

Professor MW Makgoba

country.

Vice-Chancellor & Principal
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Report of the

Senate to Council
Academic Leadership

Professor MW Makgoba

In terms of the Higher Education Act (No. 101 of 1997) and the Statute of the University of KwaZuluNatal, the Senate is empowered with the ultimate responsibility for the maintenance of the
academic integrity of the University.

12
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It also has responsibility for the development of

Composition of Senate

		

all academic initiatives of the University. During

The Senate was constituted in terms of S23(1)

( i ) the Chairperson of the Institutional Forum;

2008, the University Senate met five times to

of the Statute of the University of KwaZulu-Natal

( j ) the President of Convocation;

deal with routine operational business; four

and which defines the composition of Senate

(k) five members of the support staff, who are

additional meetings were called to deal with

as follows:-

		

not already members of the Senate, being

urgent matters.

(1) The Senate, subject to the provisions of the

		

one from each of the Colleges and one

		 Act, consists of:

		

from the central administration of the Uni-

In the course of the year, the Senate fulfilled

(a) the Vice-Chancellor;

			versity duly elected by the support staff in

its statutory responsibilities and, in so doing,

(b) the Deputy Vice-Chancellors who are 		

			each one of the afore mentioned areas of

contributed to the enhancement of sound

		

		

academic governance and the maintenance of

(c) the Deputy Vice-Chancellor: Research;

( l ) the Deans of the Faculties;

quality of the University’s various teaching and

(d) the Executive Dean of Students;

(m) the Deputy Deans of the Faculties;

research activities.

(e) two other members of the senior manage-

(n) all Heads of Schools;

		

(o) five representatives from each Faculty duly

Heads of Colleges;

ment elected by the senior management;

Assurance;

operation;

(f) two representatives from the Council who

		

elected by each such Faculty;

		

must not be either employees or students

(p) a Fellow of the University appointed by 		

		

and who are elected by the Council;

		

each Faculty;

(g) the Head of Library Services;

(q) six student representatives, one from each

(h) the Director of Quality Promotion and

		

of the campuses, duly elected by the local

2008

annual
report
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Report of Senate to Council

Report of Senate to Council

		

SRC for that campus, and one student

College of Humanities:

UKZN Pact

status of Academic Freedom at the University

		

representative from the Central SRC having

Faculty of Education

Following an extensive process of consultation,

which were widely reported in the media.

		

been duly elected by that Council;

Faculty of Humanities, Development 		

the UKZN Pact was adopted by Senate. It

This culminated in the appointment by

(r) such additional members as are approved

and Social Sciences

serves as a written statement of commitment,

Council, in November 2008, of a committee

		

College of Law and Management Studies:

for both staff and students, to a common goal

to investigate matters of Governance and

Faculty of Law

with respect to teaching and learning.

Academic Freedom.

by the Senate.

During 2008, the Senate approved the inclusion

Faculty of Management Studies

of the Deputy Vice-Chancellor: Teaching and

The Pact reads:

Learning and the Dean of Research as full

The following change to the academic structure

members of Senate.

was approved by Council in 2008:

We, the staff and students of the
University of KwaZulu-Natal agree to

(2) The majority of Senate members must be
academic employees.
(3) The manner of election or appointment as

The discipline of Plant Pathology was
moved from the School of Biochemistry,
Genetics,Microbiology and Plant Pathology

the case may be of members of the Senate

to the School of Agricultural Sciences and

is as determined by each constituency.

Agribusiness, and the name of the former
School was changed to the School of Bio-

Changes in the Academic Structure

chemistry, Genetics, and Microbiology.

There was one change to the academic structure

by the rules and regulations of the
institution and to commit ourselves to
excellence in research-led teaching
and learning.
Senate Processes and Academic
Freedom
.The question of Senate processes occupied

Professor MW Makgoba
Vice-Chancellor and Chair of Senate

much of Senate’s attention during 2008.
Professor Sibusiso Bengu was asked to

in 2008. The College Model System approved

The following policies were approved by

in 2004 is still operational as follows:-

Council following Senate preparation and
recommendation :

College of Agriculture, Engineering and

Co-curricular Record Policy and Implemen-

Science:

tation Strategy

Faculty of Engineering

University Teaching, Learning and Assess-

Faculty of Science and Agriculture

ment Policy.

College of Health Sciences:

treat each other with respect, to abide

conduct a review of the Senate meetings
held in the second half of 2007 and make
recommendations

arising

report was presented to

therefrom.

His

Senate in May

2008 and Senate resolved to act on those
recommendations dealing with matters of
process that were within the jurisdiction of
Senate.

Faculty of Health Sciences
Faculty of Medicine

Arising from this report and subsequent
developments, concerns arose about the

14
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Corporate
Relations
Professor TD Chetty

Effective Communication

“The message that UKZN is
an academically excellent,
research-led Institution was

UKZN showcased its best and brightest, and significant recognition was engendered in this regard.

effectively conveyed through
a number of mechanisms

Through a professional, efficient and effective

and television (985 stories aired) and print

staff/student newspaper ukzndaba, 23 issues

during 2008.”

approach to the planning, implementation,

media in 2008 was R152 642 146, reflecting an

of UKZN Online and 10 College Newsletters

management and evaluation of media relations,

increase of R23 623 624 over 2007.

covering all four Colleges. The 23 issues of

alumni relations, schools liaison, international

UKZN Online carried 434 stories reaching 40

relations, special events, conferencing and

Whilst

publications UKZN showcased its best and

stakeholders is essential to maintain and

brightest and significant recognition was

enhance the reputation of any institution,

Publications

engendered in this regard.

internal communications within the organisation

The excellence of UKZN’s publications was

is equally critical. Staff and students convey

again confirmed by a haul of awards from both

During 2008, 1 238 positive reports appeared

through word of mouth and their writings

the Association of Commonwealth Universities

in the print media covering various student

authoritative views on institutional climate

(ACU) and from the Institute for Marketing,

and staff achievements, teaching and learning

and governance and for these views to be

Advancement and Communication in Education

activities at the University, events, innovative

balanced and objective, if not positive, the

(MACE). UKZN won the 2007-2008 Association

research directions, international partnerships

different messages and mediums used in and

of Commonwealth Universities (ACU) PR,

and exchanges and community outreach

for internal communications had to be efficiently

Marketing and Communications Award for the

activities amongst other categories of reporting.

and effectively managed.

best Annual Report. ukzndaba received the

external

communications

with

runner-up award in the Newsletter Category.

On 171 occasions academics and researchers

16
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000 readers as did the College Newsletters.

from UKZN were called upon to provide expert

Communication

opinion on current issues. In contrast, 220 print

Messages were conveyed via electronic notices

UKZN also received the following Institute for

reports may be deemed to have had a negative

(24 Vice-Chancellor’s Communiqués, 576

Marketing, Advancement and Communication

slant covering the debate on academic freedom

general communiqués and 4 776 notices on

in Education Excellence (MACE) Excellence

at UKZN, student protests over accommodation

the University’s daily electronic notice board),

Awards in 2008:

and the questionable award of certain higher

through the staging of high profile events and

degrees. One objective indicator of the success

through electronic and hard copies of official

ukzndaba (Internal Publication) – first

of media relations is that the Advertising Value

publications.

place,

Equivalent of the publicity received from radio

Corporate Relations produced 12 issues of the

With regard to publications,

Fatima Meer: A Pictorial Tribute (External

2008

annual
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Corporate Relations

Publication/Brochure) – first place,

A Forum on “Xenophobia in South Africa.

The debate was organised by the Graduate

20 March. Mrs Pandor also visited the new

event in New York was a joint initiative with the

on the Pietermartizburg, Howard College and

Sizabantwana, an outreach project located

Why Now?” was held on the Westville

School of Business in conjunction with

residences on the Westville campus and toured

UKZN Foundation and was supported by the

Westvillle campuses. The Schools Liaison Unit

in the School of Psychology that develops

campus on 29 May. The Forum encouraged

Corporate Relations.

the upgraded Science facilities.

generosity of South African Consulate-General

visited over 200 schools in the country where

educator capacity to deal with psycho-

conversation on xenophobia with a view

in New York. It was indeed heartening that our

presentations were made to learners in grade

social issues in their school communities

to deciding a course of action. Speakers

Professor Ben Turok unpacked the eco-

The Minister of Science and Technology

graduates abroad have a deep interest in the

11 and 12. Over 100 principals and guidance

(Community Development Project

included representatives of refugee and

nomic policy changes South Africa needs

Dr Mosibudi Mangena officially opened the

developments of the University.

counselors attended an update on trends in

category) – first place,

human rights organisations, political parties

to address high levels of unemployment,

Science and Technology Education Centre on

Development Brief (External Newsletter) –

and unions.

poverty and inequality during a lecture on

the Westville campus on 10 October. The R5.5

Here in South Africa a number of events were held

at two seminars held on the Pietermaritzburg

the Westville campus on 17 November.

million Centre was created when the Faculty of

in Cape Town, Port Elizabeth and East London.

and Westville campuses. The events are a

runner-up,
College of Agriculture, Engineering and

Commemorating the heroes of the battle of

The lecture was organised by the School of

Science and Agriculture consolidated its Durban

The highlight of the year was a reunion for over

vital link with senior educators and provide a

Science Marketing Brochure (External

Cuito Cuanavale, a historical battle fought

Politics and Corporate Relations.

activities on the Westville campus. The main

250 alumni and friends of UKZN who attended

platform for open dialogue. The presence and

Magazine) - runner-up.

in 1988 in south-eastern Angola, members

purpose of the centre is to foster an awareness

the Advocates for Democracy Reunion held in

participation of UKZN’s academics at road

of the Cuba Africa Solidarity Committee

In addition, the UKZN Golf Tournament

of and interest in science and technology and

Durban on 18 October for graduates from the

shows, career evenings, career exhibitions and

Events

together with ANC stalwart, Dr Phyllis Naidoo

organised by Corporate Relations raised

to forge closer links with learners, educators

1970s to the 1990s. This reunion sponsored

education shows is an indication of the collective

Fifty one high profile events that profiled

paid tribute in a symposium on 26 July on

R60 000 for bursaries for six students.

and the public.

by the University’s corporate partner, Deloitte,

outreach in communicating with learners. The

academic and research excellence were

the Westville campus. The public lecture was

followed the very successful reunion which

College of Agriculture, Engineering and Science

organised by Corporate Relations during 2008

hosted by UKZN as part of the University’s

The Gandhi-Luthuli Chair of Peace

During 2008, 10 conferences were organised

took place at the Beachwood Country Club

scooped a Gold Medal for the exhibit aimed at

– 18 of these were inaugural lectures, three

contribution to the National Legacy Project

Studies within the College of Humanities

by Professional Conferencing Services, viz.

in 2004. Deputy Minister of Home Affairs Mr

prospective students at the annual Royal Show

memorial lectures, three book launches, three

(an initiative aimed at honouring South Africa’s

was inaugurated on 18 September. 1 500

Law Judges Symposium, Association for

Malusi Gigaba, an alumnus of the University,

held in Pietermaritzburg. It was heartening that

awards ceremonies and five discussion forums

struggle heroes and providing a platform for

guests attended the launch on the Howard

Commonwealth Universities Public Relations,

delivered the main address. The Convocation

50 top matriculants registered at UKZN and

on socially relevant issues; 18 graduation

discussion).

College campus. Vice-Chancellor Professor

Tuberculosis

Initiative,

AGM held on 27 October in Durban was graced

received a special welcome to the University

Malegapuru

the

South African Association for Counseling and

by the eminent presence of Mr Tito Mboweni,

at a ‘Top Achievers’ Lunch organised by the

celebrated

Chair, together with the High Commissioner

Development in Higher Education, Population

Governor of the Reserve Bank in South Africa,

Schools Liaison team.

at UKZN on 5 September, providing an

of India in South Africa, Mr Rajiv Kumar

Association

South

who was the main guest speaker. His address

More than 500 people attended the UKZN

opportunity for students from other countries

Bhatia, ANC President Mr Jacob Zuma,

African Association for Senior Student Affairs

focused on the current state and future trends

International Relations

Forum on “The Challenges of Eradicating

to share their diverse cultures with the

the Minister of State for External Affairs in

Practitioners, ALASFO (Language Association),

of the South African economy.

International partnerships continue to flourish

Racism” on the Westville campus on

University community. This was the first time

the Government of India Mr Anand Sharma

Reading Association of Southern African (RASA)

19 March. The Forum was organised in

that the University, which is home to more

Bhatia; and the Consul General of India, Mr

Conference, Centre for High Performance

Two

publication

(MOUs) were signed with Taibah University in

the aftermath of the shocking incident

than 2 000 students and 200 staff from

Harsh Vardhan Shringla. The Chair seeks to

Computing and Marketing, Advancement and

UKZNTOUCH were published. The publication

Saudi Arabia; Karolinska Medical Institute in

at the University of the Free State. The

80 countries celebrated International Day.

engage on issues of human rights, conflict

Communication in Education (MACE).

is distributed to 100 000 alumni – in South Africa

Sweden; the University of Carolina in the United

invited speakers were struggle stalwart

The keynote speaker was the Reverend

resolution, history and morality in civil society.

and abroad.

States and the University of Adelaide in Australia.

Mr Mac Maharaj, UKZN Central Student

Archbishop Thabo Makgoba of the Anglican

A commemorative publication was produced

Alumni Relations

Representative Council President Mr Sanele

Church. Guests from the Diplomatic Corps

for the launch.

Alumni are an important constituency of the

Student Recruitment

partnership

Shabalala and Professor Gerhard Maré,

were also present.

University and I am pleased to report that we

Recruitment of students is of fundamental

student exchange programmes. International

To showcase UKZN’s world class infrastructure

communicate regularly with our graduates

importance to the University and is a critical

academics visitors to UKZN began in mid-

the following two events were staged:

- many of whom occupy senior positions in

strategic focus of the marketing plan. The interest

February and highlights include the visits of

ceremonies were also organised with the
Registrar. Significant events included:

Internationalisation

was

Professor in Sociology and Director of the

18

Higher Education and developments at UKZN

Makgoba

inaugurated

African

of

Academic

Southern

Africa,

and this year Memoranda of Understanding
issues

of

the

alumni

The MOUs provide an official collaboration
in

research,

academic

and

Centre for Critical Research on Race and

Leaders

Identity.

gathered on the Westville campus on 26

The R90-million Biological and Conservation

both government and in the corporate sector.

in the University’s academic programmes was

senior officials from the University of Minnesota,

November to provide their perspective on

Sciences Building was officially opened by the

Networking events were held in New York

evident with over 10 000 prospective students

Virginia Commonwealth University, University

the South African economy post-2009.

Minister of Education Mrs Naledi Pandor on

and at South African House in London. The

and their parents who attended the Open Days

of Bath, the University of Michigan, Drake

2008
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various
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University and Tanta University in Egypt. A total
of 33 international visitors from 13 institutions
visited UKZN during the course of the year.
This year 2 393 students from 87 countries
registered at UKZN for a range of academic
programmes.

I am cognisant that the participation and
support of our academic staff is critical to the

India’s Minister of State for External Affairs, Mr Anand
Sharma (left) and ANC President, Jacob Zuma (right)
officially launch the Gandhi-Luthuli Chair of Peace Studies.

(l-r) Dr Dion George (DA), Mr Narend Singh
(IFP), Professor Dasarath Chetty, Mr Sihle
Zikalala (ANC), and Mr Philip Dexter (Cope)
at the debate on the South African Economy
post - 2009.

(l-r) Mr Sanele Shabalala, Professor Gerhard
Maré, and Mr Mac Maharaj at the Forum on
The Challenges of Eradicating Racism.

Professor Dasarath Chetty; The Most Rev
Thabo Makgoba, Archbishop of the Anglican
Church of Southern Africa; Vice-Chancellor,
Professor Malegapuru Makgoba and Her Excellency Ms Joan Thomas, Acting High Commissioner of Jamaica at International Day.

At the signing of the MOU with Taibah University
(standing from left) Professor Leana Uys,
Professor Sabiha Essack, Dr Meshan Alotaibi,
Professor Johan Jacobs and Dr Ibrahim
Hussain. Seated from left Professors Mansor
Alnozhah and Dasarath Chetty.

UKZN staff celebrate the University’s
success in the MACE Excellence
Awards in Stellenbosch.

From left: Mr Sunny Singh, Cuba Africa Solidarity Committee; Mr Billy Nair ANC Stalwart,
Professor Dasarath Chetty, and Professor
Dennis Brutus, Centre for Civil Society at the
Symposium on the battle of Cuito Cuanavale.

(l-r) Professor Dasarath Chetty, Mr Mark Pillay,
overall winner and Mr Anthony Thunstrom,
KPMG Managing Director, KwaZulu-Natal at the
UKZN Golf Day.

At the signing of the MOU with the University of
Antananarivo, Madagascar standing (l-r) are
Professors Kevin Kirkman; Ratsimbazafy;
Dasarath Chetty; and Monique Ramanamihantatsoarana. Seated (l-r) are Professors Johan
Jacobs; and Adolphe Rajerison.

Professor Malegapuru Makgoba and Mrs
Naledi Pandor at the Opening Ceremony of the
Biological and Conservation Sciences Building.

success of our communication and marketing
endeavours. I place on record my gratitude
to the many academic staff who readily
avail themselves to actively participate and
engage with our stakeholders and who make
an invaluable contribution to the strategic
communication thrust of the University.

The poster for the Forum on Xenophobia on 29 May.
Professor TD Chetty
Pro-Vice-Chancellor: Corporate Relations

Professor Dasarath Chetty accepts the Association of
Commonwealth Universities (ACU) Award for the best
Annual Report from Dr John Kirkland, Deputy Secretary
General (Development) of the ACU.
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Research
Professor JU Jacobs
“The University
responded positively to
research challenges and

Supporting Research Excellence

opportunities.”
Research at the University of KwaZulu-Natal was characterised by a double thrust in 2008.
On the one hand, the University prided itself

The University’s pre-eminence in research was

researchers achieved the prestigious A-rating,

on maintaining its reputation as one of the

once again demonstrated by a number of clear

signifying that they are regarded as world

leading South African research institutions and

indicators. The annual audit of publications

leaders in their disciplines: Professor Patricia

in continuing to give meaning and substance to

by the Department of Education credited

Berjak (School of Biological and Conservation

its commitment to being a premier institution

UKZN with having produced a total of 876.48

Sciences), Professor Rob Gous (Agriscience

of African Scholarship. On the other hand, as

publication units in 2007, which consisted of

and Agribusiness), Professor Michael Henning

part of the Institutional Audit of the University

793.5 for journal articles, 57.99 for scholarly

(Mathematics

by the CHE in 2008, the University Research

books and chapters in books, and 24.99

Professor Steve Johnson (Biological and

Committee and the Research Office undertook

for refereed conference proceedings. The

Conservation Sciences), and Professor Michael

an in-depth self-assessment of research and

University has continued with its strategic drive

Chapman (Literary Studies, Media and Creative

postgraduate training at UKZN, to identify and

to encourage all its academics to engage in

Arts). Dr Serban Proches (Biological and

support its present strengths and strategic

research and publication by supporting them in

Conservation Sciences) achieved the distinction

research intitiatives, and also to establish

a variety of ways.

of being awarded a P-rating which recognises

2008
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Applied

Mathematics),

the outstanding quality of his work as a young

what incentives were required still further to

22

and

improve its research profile and postgraduate

The evaluation and rating system of the National

researcher and his potential to become an

throughput. This was done in the context of the

Research Foundation (NRF) provides a further

international leader in his field.

University’s belief in the practice of scholarship

benchmark for research standing. In 2008, 155

that is appropriate for a democratic African and

researchers who had submitted themselves to

By 2008 the University had also secured seven

South African context in which the inequities

evaluation by their disciplinary peers nationally

of the prestigious South African Research Chairs

of the past have to be addressed while also

and internationally were successfully rated

in the NRF South African Research Chairs

engaging with a globalised future.

as being recognised for the impact that their

Initiative, funded to a total of R12.55 million.

work had not only in South Africa but also

They are: Professor Francesco Petruccione

world-wide.

(Chair in Quantum Information Processing and

Among

these,

the

following

2008
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Research

Communication), Professor Steve Johnson

of which R13 million was dedicated to the

Research Infrastructures

namely development of a sophisticated web-

investigate global issues, and they bring the

and Identity under the leadership of Professor

(Chair in Evolutionary Biology), Professor

purchase of expensive research development

The University’s research standing depends also

based research portal which will enable scholars

best international perspectives to bear on their

Gerhard Maré.

Sunil Maharaj (Chair in Gravitating Systems),

equipment. In terms of the Research Incentive

on the research infrastructure that it provides.

to access a wide range of electronic information

consideration of the region and the communities

Professor Nceba Gqaleni (Chair in Indigenous

Scheme a further R25 million – nearly half of the

In the ICT Division, the internet service was

resources, the building of a physical Research

that they serve. Two flagship Centres are the

During 2008, the University continued to extend

Health Care Systems Research), Professor

research support budget – was paid out directly

successfully migrated from Tenet to Telkom and

Commons, and the enhancement of the skills

Centre for the AIDS Programme of Research in

its network of research partnerships with other

Thumbi Ndung’u (Chair in Systems Biology

to researchers in the form of productivity awards

increased threefold to approximately 60mbps,

of library staff specifically as research librarians,

South Africa (CAPRISA) under the directorship

universities and research institutions around the

of HIV/AIDS), Professor Dorrit Posel (Chair

for their accredited research publications. R3

resulting in UKZN having the greatest amount

have been realised.

of Professor Salim Abdool Karim, and the

world, and focused especially on developing its

in Economic Development), and Professor

million was also made available to researchers

of bandwidth for staff and students within a

Health Economics and AIDS Research Division

strategic partnerships with a number of other

Deresh Ramjugernath (Chair in Fluorine Process

across all Faculties from the University’s

Higher Education institution in South Africa.

In 2008 the UKZN Press Published 20

(HEARD) headed by Professor Alan Whiteside.

African universities. Drawing on the dedication

Engineering and Separations Technology).

Competitive Grant Scheme, which is designed to

Furthermore, in partnership with the Faculty of

new books and reprinted seven titles.

The Research Group for Quantum Technologies,

and special skills of all its researchers, as well as

assist members of staff completing their doctoral

Education on the Edgewood campus, UKZN

The publications were works of significant

headed by Professor Francesco Petruccione in

of its technicians, administrators and students,

The University also continued to be one of

degrees and also to enable new members of

became the first Higher Education institution

scholarship which included books by UKZN

the School of Physics, continues to develop its

the University has once again responded

the most successful participants of all South

staff to establish themselves as researchers at

nationally to implement wireless technology

academics reflecting research at the University

national profile in quantum technologies. Two

positively in 2008 to the particular research

African universities in the NRF Thuthuka

UKZN until they can benefit from the productivity

on the 802.11n draft standard. Applications

(e.g. Zulu Identities: Being Zulu Past and Present

other Centres have distinguished themselves

challenges and opportunities presented by its

research

scheme,

award scheme. Also on a competitive basis, the

that can be used with ease on this technology

edited by Carton, Laband and Sithole). The

within the overall framework of the development

location in South Africa and Africa in a rapidly

with 79 researchers being awarded a total of

University’s Postdoctoral Research Fellowship

include Voice Over IP (VOIP), Streaming Video,

African literature list was augmented with the

of sustainable rural livelihoods, which is a

expanding – and shrinking – world.

R5.14 million (supplemented by R4.28 million

Programme made provision for 11 long-term,

Podcasting and network attached storage.

publication of Shameless by Futhi Ntshingila, a

strategic research initiative of the University:

from UKZN) for projects in the Women in

two-year postdoctoral research fellowships

The wireless network was implemented in

UKZN graduate, and New Country by Mxolisi

the Africa Centre for Crop Improvement under

Research, REDIBA and Researchers in Training

(R1.32 million) as well as for 12 shorter-term,

conjunction with other technological initiatives

Nyezwa amongst others.

the leadership of Professor Mark Laing, which

categories. In the South African National

three-month postdoctoral grants (R0.35 million)

such as the rollout of laptops for staff with PhDs,

Antarctic Programme, Professor ARW Hughes

to enable newly graduated PhDs to convert

acquisition of smartboards for lecture halls and

It is this supportive context that nurtures

postgraduate students from all over Africa,

(Physics), Professor M K Watkeys (Geological

their theses into publications.

the replacement of computers with the latest

especially younger researchers at UKZN, such

and the Africa Centre for Food Security under

high-end computer equipment in the multimedia

as Dr Dean-Peter Baker (School of Philosophy

Professor Sheryl Hendriks.

lab on the Edgewood campus.

and Ethics) in the Faculty of Humanities,

capacity

development

Sciences) and Professor ADM Walker (Physics)
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were awarded a total of R0.450 million. And

External grants and contracts for research

in the Technology and Human Resources for

projects, many of which include research

Industry Programme (THRIP), members of the

training and capacity development, make

University received 17 grants to the value of
R13.57 million.

also has an extensive training programme for

Development and Social Sciences, who was

In the wider Humanities and Social Sciences

In 2008, the Library played an even more

the recipient of the 2008 Vice-Chancellor’s

a number of Centres have also established

up the major source of research income for

important role in the research mission of the

Research Award.

themselves

the University. In 2008, the Research Office

University, repositioning itself with the aim of

processed new grants and contracts alone to

transforming and enriching the traditional

Research Funding

the value of R210 million. In addition, the UKZN

The research success of the University is to a

as

important

generators

of

knowledge in the South African and African

Professor JU Jacobs

Research Centres

context: the Centre for Civil Society, headed by

Acting Deputy Vice-Chancellor: Research,

support offered to researchers. Funded by

Research at UKZN is also given definition and

Professor Patrick Bond; the Sinomlando Centre

Knowledge Production and Partnerships

Foundation succeeded in raising in excess

the Carnegie Corporation of New York and

focus by our many research Centres which

for Oral History and Memory Work in Africa

great extent dependent on the resources made

of R100 million from donors for research and

in partnership with the Universities of Cape

show how the best kind of scholarship is

under Professor Philippe Denis; the Centre

available to its researchers and researchers-in-

development activities.

Town and the Witwatersrand, the Library

both local and global in its outlook. They base

for African Literary Studies in Pietermaritzburg

training from its own research support budget.

has developed a new model of proactive

themselves in an understanding of indigenous

with its unique collection of African literature;

In 2008 this amounted to a total of R58.5 million,

librarianship. The three goals of the project,

knowledges and circumstances from which to

and the Centre for Critical Research on Race

2008
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Teaching and
				 Learning
Professor R Vithal

Dedicated to Teaching & Learning
The DVC (Teaching & Learning) portfolio is a University-wide portfolio with the specific aim of
advancing the University’s vision, mission and strategic plans with regard to teaching and
learning and was filled in June 2008.

“TThe University of KwaZulu-Natal
(UKZN) is the first university in the

The primary responsibility assigned to the

regulatory requirements in the review of

A third priority is establishing an ongoing

country to have created a Deputy

portfolio of DVC (Teaching & Learning) is to

existing programmes and the design and

cycle of developing, implementing and

Vice-Chancellor (DVC) position

provide leadership in all areas of teaching and

development of new qualifications.

reviewing University policies and procedures

dedicated to teaching and learning.”

learning. It is however, possible to identify three
A second priority is to continue to promote

development and student support, to

access but to expand this focus to

improve teaching and learning. While a

A first priority is to lead curriculum trans-

paying special attention to throughput

range of policies related to teaching and

formation. This embodies firstly, to support

and success in subsequent years. This

learning have been developed following

a deliberate effort to integrate the University

involves firstly, taking a stronger research

the merger (such as the Language Policy)

vision and mission of a “Premier University

informed

understanding

and the Council for Education Institutional

of African Scholarship”, however diversely

and acting on failure and dropout rates

Audit which took place in October 2008,

interpreted, within the broad curriculum

across programmes that has become a

dissemination

reforms needed to move the University

national higher education concern; and

challenges need to be taken up to ensure

into more competitive cutting-edge 21st

secondly finding institutional strategies

consistency and coherence across the

century relevant curricula, but which

and mechanisms for academic monitoring,

University.

remain responsive to the development

support and sharing best practice to

challenges of the country; and secondly,

positively impact beyond the access and

As a cross-cutting portfolio, parallel to the DVC

to use the opportunity of meeting the

foundation programmes in the mainstream

(Research) portfolio, it has required working

requirements of the new Higher Education

programme teaching and learning.

closely with the Colleges, Faculties and Schools

key priorities within this very broad mandate.

Qualification
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related
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Teaching and Learning

Teaching and Learning

teaching and learning. This has been achieved

The new approved structure for this portfolio

been the academic monitoring and support

Professor TE Madiba from the Nelson R

through a range of meetings with the DVCs &

includes the Quality Promotions and Assurance

programmes and structures within Faculties

Mandela School of Medicine, from the

Heads of Colleges as well as Faculty Executive

Unit and the Open Learning Initiative which

to identify and work with students identified

Surgical Disciplines.

or Management Committees. Participation in

are now part of the UTLO. Discussions are

as being at risk of exclusion which arose

Dr K Pillay from the Faculty of Manage-

the various College Quality Committees, the

underway to develop a Memorandum of

from concerns raised by the Students

ment Studies in the Graduate School of

University Teaching and Learning Committee

Agreement for the Centre for Higher Education

Representative Council in Senate. Faculties

Business.

and Access Advisory Committees of Senate

Studies in the Faculty of Education of the

have each submitted reports to the University

has provided an overview of the achievements

College of Humanities to be relocated as part of

Teaching and Learning Committee, which

and challenges of the University at an

the structure of the UTLO.

served at Senate and a set of minimum criteria
for such support in Faculties have been agreed

institutional level.
A major project undertaken by UTLO for 2008

to and is in the process of being implemented.

Establishing the portfolio has meant creating an

has been related to upgrading teaching venues

This should begin to assist more directly in

appropriate structures and office for the port-

across campuses. This project was one of

addressing problems of high exclusion and

folio. One of the first tasks undertaken was to

the recommendations in the report that arose

dropout rates in some Faculties.

literally establish the physical offices for this brand

from accompanying the Vice-Chancellor in his

new portfolio. The new University Teaching

meetings with Schools and Faculties in June

One of the pleasant tasks the UTLO under-

and Learning Offices (UTLO) were refurbished

and July of 2008 and was undertaken as part

takes is the implementation of the policy

and opened on the second floor of the Francis

of a process of becoming familiar with the

and procedures related to the Distinguished

Stock Building on the Howard College campus

diversity of the University across campuses.

Teachers’ Award. Following strong competition

in October 2008 and the process of appointing

Approximately R7.3 million was set aside and

for the four awards the University makes annually,

staff to the office was begun.

is being utilised for upgrading more than 110

the successful candidates in 2008 were:

Professor R Vithal
Deputy Vice-Chancellor:
Teaching and Learning

common teaching venues across mainly the
The new UTLO structure includes a Personal

Westville, Howard College and Pietermaritzburg

Dr F Balladon from the Faculty of Human-

Assistant and Administrator as well as a Director:

campuses which were identified as requiring

ities, Development and Social Sciences

Projects in teaching and learning to assist in the

urgent improvements. These funds are being

in the School of Language, Literature and

management of the range of Department of

utilised for upgrading basic building works,

Linguistics.

Education, SANTED and other projects. The PA

audio visual facilities as well as incorporating

Dr RWE Joubert from the Faculty of Health

to the DVC (T&L) and a dedicated administrator

wireless across campuses. This phase one is

Sciences in the School of Audiology,

to assist with SANTED projects were appointed

expected to be complete by July 2009.

Occupational

in October and November of 2008 respectively.
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Therapy

and

Speech-

Language Pathology.
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Equity
Ms Reena Budree

Promoting Equity

“There is a shortage of
applicants, regardless of
race, in many scarce skill
and senior positions.”

As at 31 December 2008, the University of KwaZulu-Natal had in its employ 4 530 permanent and
long-term contract staff.
Of the 2 948 permanent members of staff,

level. Indians continue to form the majority in the

planned for 2009 to revisit the strategies and

38 percent were academics and 62 percent

support sector at 43.5 percent.

policies for recruitment, motivation, development
and retention of women, Black, in particular

support staff. The racial representation reflected
37 percent Indian; 30 percent White; 29 percent

The University’s Employment Equity Report to the

Africans and 4 percent Coloureds. Furthermore,

Department of Education was submitted within

approximately 53 percent of the employees

agreed timeframes. Overall, all the University’s

were males and 47 percent were females.

obligations with respect to the Employment

The University also employed 113 people with

Equity Legislation for 2008 were met.

African, staff and persons with disabilities.

disabilities, 59 percent of whom were male and
41 percent female.

Whilst there has been progress in achieving
employment equity during 2008, the major

During 2008 the University lost 324 staff

obstacles relate to higher salaries being

members to retirement, resignation, dismissal

offered by other institutions in the tertiary

and contract completion. In the same period

sector, the private sector and government,

217 new staff members were employed. The

scarcity of skills and slow rates of promotion

majority of new appointees were African and

and advancement within tertiary institutions. It

Ms Reena Budree

female. Unfortunately 39 percent of resignations

is also worth noting that there is a shortage of

Executive Director:

were also African.

applicants, regardless of race, in many scarce

Human Resources and Equity

skill and senior positions.
Whites continue to form the majority in the
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academic sector ranging from 40 percent at

A major Employment Equity and Diversity

Lecturer level to 64 percent at the Professor

workshop involving all stakeholders is being
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The
Institutional
									
Forum

Promoting Unity

Professor K Govinder
“The University is currently
reviewing the role and
functioning of the

In terms of Section 37 of the Statute of the

The

University of KwaZulu-Natal, the Institutional

responsibility of advising Council on the

Forum advises the Council on issues affecting

appointment of members of the Executive by

the University, including:

participating in the selection process for the

Institutional Forum.”

Institutional

Forum

discharged

its

following executive positions:
The implementation of the Act and the
national policy on Higher Education.

Deputy Vice-Chancellor: Teaching

Race, gender and equity policies.

and Learning

The selection of candidates for senior

Chief Finance Officer

management positions.

Deputy Vice-Chancellor: Research

Codes of conduct, mediation and dispute

Executive Director: Physical Planning

Professor K Govinder

resolution procedures.

and Operations

Chair: Institutional Forum

The Language Policy.

Registrar.

New members were elected to the Institutional

The University is currently reviewing the role and

Forum and assumed office in the latter part of

functioning of the Institutional Forum with the

2007; however the Institutional Forum continues

intention of clarifying its mandate and operation,

to experience difficulty in obtaining a quorum.

in order to assist it to assume its important role

Four meetings were held in 2008: in March,

in the affairs of the University.

June, September and November, and all but
one were inquorate.
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Student
Services

Supporting Students

Mr TM Wills
“Student Counselling Centres

The Departments making up the Division of Student Services at UKZN provide a wide range of support

are becoming more involved

for students, but are united in their commitment to one of UKZN’s key strategic goals, namely to
ensure that UKZN is an “ institution of choice for students”.

in working collaboratively with
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academic development staff in the

Our particular focus is on the “first year

campus are responsible for administering loan

A great deal of emphasis is placed on student

Faculties to improve the retention

experience” where the aim is to ensure that

funds for needy students, and in 2008 nearly

participation at UKZN and the development

rate of students.”

during their first three semesters at the University,

6 000 students were assisted, with over R120

of leadership skills, whether it is in student

the new students are given all the assistance

million in loan packages being allocated. The

governance, sport or other social and cultural

that they need in order to establish themselves

SFCs also administer and allocate a wide range

activities. In the area of student governance

in their academic studies.

of bursaries and scholarships, funded by the

students from UKZN continue to shine at

University and a growing number of generous

provincial and national level as well, with local

Apart from providing direct support in the

external sponsors. A particularly successful

students continuing to play a prominent role

form of health services, a range of counselling

initiative in 2008 was the introduction of the

in the newly formed South African Union of

support services, financial aid in various forms,

Fundza Lushaka bursary scheme for trainee

Students (SAUS) whose first President is a UKZN

opportunities for sport and recreation, our

teachers, in conjunction with the Department

student. While many of our students come to

Student Counselling Centres are becoming

of

Student

the University with well-developed leadership

more involved in working collaboratively with

Financial Aid Scheme), and the UKZN Faculty

skills, having been involved in community

academic development staff in the Faculties

of Education.

organisations prior to university, others take

Education,

NSFAS

(National

to improve the retention rate of students. The

advantage of the many opportunities the

UKZN Student Funding Centres (SFCs) on each

University provides to hone their skills. The most
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Report on Student Services

Report on Student Services

prominent of these opportunities is the annual

facility, and teams are forced to rent time in

campus for 10 days. The long-running Happy

The University was also able to bask in the glory

Student Leadership Development Course run

the indoor sports centres put up by local high

Valley Clinic continued to provide much needed

of students from the UKZN Students in Free

by the Student Leadership Development Office,

schools. Ironically, UKZN continues to be one of

support for people living in the Valley of a

Enterprise (SIFE) organisation, who won the

which will be celebrating its 10th anniversary

the leading centres of hockey in the country, but

Thousand Hills area north of Durban. The clinic

hotly contested national SIFE Championships

in 2009.

is still without an artificial playing surface, found

is run by medical students from the Nelson R

in Johannesburg in July, and proceeded to do

as a matter of course in the top hockey-playing

Mandela School of Medicine, who are finding it

well as the South African representatives at the

Sport is another area where participation is

high schools. These deficiencies will need to be

increasingly difficult to raise the funds necessary

SIFE World Championships held in Singapore

encouraged. Sport at UKZN is based on the

addressed if UKZN is to continue to attract top-

to keep the service going.

in September. SIFE, which is an international

club system, with students running the clubs

performing sports students.

and the Sports Councils on each campus, ably

36

student organisation, focuses on developing
It is pleasing that debating is enjoying a strong

entrepreneurial skills in students, but also in

assisted by professional sports administrators.

UKZN prides itself on community outreach, with

revival at UKZN, and the University has a very

members of the broader community. SIFE teams

2008 was again a busy year for UKZN sport,

many academics being engaged in projects in

enthusiastic Debating Society which promotes

set up a range of entrepreneurial activities in

and the University hosted or participated in a

KZN and further afield. Our students are not to

the activity both on campus and in the broader

schools and disadvantaged communities, and

number of successful South African Students

be outdone, and in 2008 a number of student

community. In 2008, the UKZN Debating Team

present these at the national competitions.

Sports Union (SASSU) national tournaments.

organisations ran programmes, particularly in the

won the Annual National Universities Debating

One of the sporting highlights of the year was

area of education. Some of these have become

Championships held in Bloemfontein. They

the Olympic Games, and UKZN was proud

well established programmes relied upon by

followed up this achievement by being invited

to have sent seven members of the University

the local communities, for example the Tutoring

to, and winning, the inaugural Judge Edwin

sporting community to Beijing to represent

Programmes, and Saturday Schools run by

Cameron Debating Tournament, to establish

South Africa.

student volunteers on the Pietermaritzburg,

UKZN at the top of the South African university

Edgewood, and Howard College campuses.

student debating world.

While UKZN continues to shine in many

Once again the Masakhane Youth Leadership

sports codes, there is a serious shortage of

Course was successfully staged entirely by a

facilities on some campuses. For example the

student organisation at the Edgewood campus,

Pietermaritzburg campus has no indoor sports

which brings over 200 school children to the

2008

annual
report

Mr TM Wills
Executive Dean (Students)

2008

annual
report

37

Registrar

Ensuring Compliance

Professor J Meyerowitz
“A key focus of the expanded
division during 2008 was the
interrogation of processes and

During 2008, the Registrar’s Division was enhanced by the incorporation of the Division of Student
Academic Administration, the functions of which complement the traditional ones of providing legal,
administrative and secretarial support to Council and Senate.

procedures to ensure consistent
practice and implementation
across all campuses of
the University.”

7 675 students graduated:

One of the functions of the Registrar’s office is

In support of Goal Seven of the Strategic Plan:

to ensure compliance with legislation, statutory

Efficient and Effective Management, a review

10% of these were masters or doctoral

requirements and the University’s rules, policies

of the Council and Senate committee structure

candidates;

and procedures. The incorporation of Student

has commenced. The purpose of this review is

59% were women;

Academic Administration into the Registrar’s

to streamline the committee system to make it

44% were African, 35% were Indian and

Division has ensured that all legal and

more effective and to improve the sometimes

19% were white;

compliance aspects of student administration

bureaucratic

6% of all students, and 20% of masters

other than those that are the responsibility of the

Initial proposals were presented to Senior

and doctoral students, were international

Faculties are co-ordinated from one division.

Management in November 2008 and were

students;

supported. Indications are that a reduction in the

444 students (9%) who had entered

A key focus of the expanded division during

number of committees by 40% will be possible,

University through an access programme

2008 was the interrogation of processes and

with significant savings in staff time and people

graduated with a bachelors degree.

procedures to ensure consistent practice and

opportunity costs.

decision

making

process.

implementation across all campuses of the
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University. Standard operating procedures

Graduation 2008 consisted of 21 ceremonies

and service level agreements are being

held over ten days between 14 and 24

developed for all key areas to ensure that the

April 2008. Four ceremonies were held in

division can fulfil its goal of providing efficient

Pietermaritzburg and the remainder at Westville.

and effective service and support to the

The Chancellor, Dr Frene Ginwala, presided at

University community.

three of the ceremonies.
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Registrar

Registrar

Unexpected guests at three of the ceremonies

Graduation statistics per Faculty and category are as follows:

were MECs Dr Zweli Mkhize (Economic
Development), Mrs Ina Cronje (Education)

Doctoral

Masters

Honours

Bachelors

Diplomas &
Certifcates

Education

13

60

183

408

754

1418

Engineering

1

34

19

302

0

356

HDSS

24

165

341

1125

67

1722

Health Sciences

5

19

0

349

3

376

TOTAL

and Mr Meshack Radebe (Social Welfare &
Population Development), all of whom had
children graduating. In addition Mr Tito Mboweni,
Governor of the Reserve Bank, attended one of
the ceremonies.

The founding Registrar of UKZN, Dr Edith
Mneney, resigned the position at the end of

Law

1

30

0

265

11

307

Management Studies

7

234

401

1455

65

2162

Medicine

4

24

16

192

81

317

Science & Agriculture

45

93

186

667

26

1017

TOTAL

100

659

1146

4763

1007

7675

February 2008, and the position was filled
on an acting basis until the appointment of

78% of graduands attended the graduation

Sri Swami Sahajananda (posthumous),

Faculty of Education. At the other eleven

ceremonies with the best attendance per

Doctor of Theology.

ceremonies there was no graduation address.

Professor Jane Meyerowitz as Registrar in
November 2008.

category being doctoral graduands (86%)
followed by bachelors graduands (85%).

In each case the recipient or a representative

Four Distinguished Teachers Awards were

addressed the congregation.

made to:
Dr Patricia Caldwell, Faculty of Science &

Six Honorary Doctorates were awarded to:
Professor Kader Asmal, Doctor of Laws;

At some ceremonies where there was no

Agriculture;

Professor Lena Dominelli, Doctor of Social

honorary graduand, guest speakers were

Professor Jenny Lamb, Faculty of Science

Sciences;

invited to address the congregation. These

& Agriculture;

Father Michael Lapsley, Doctor of 		

were Mr Trueman Goba, Faculty of Engineer-

Professor Heike Tappe, Faculty of Humanit-

Theology;

ing; Professor Richard Mkandiwire, Faculty of

ies, Development and Social Sciences; and

Mrs Elsa Pooley, Doctor of Science;

Science & Agriculture; Mr Roy Naicker,

a group award to Professor Busisiwe

Mr David Rattray (posthumous), Doctor of

Faculty of Education; and Ms Palesa Tyobeka,

Bhengu, Dr Busisiwe Ncama and Dr Petra

Social Science; and
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Bryciewicz of the Faculty of Health Sciences.
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College of

Agriculture,
Engineering
and Science

Professor PJK Zacharias

Committed to Development
The year 2008 saw the College of Agriculture, Engineering and Science reinforce its position as a
trailblazer in the University’s quest to become the Premier University of African Scholarship.

“The College demonstrated its

Through its varied activities and accomplish-

consolidate its science outreach activities on

Resonance facilities to the tune of R15 million

commitment to the development

ments, the College demonstrated its commit-

the Westville campus. On the Howard College

and acquired a new electron spin resonance

of the African continent

ment to the development of the African conti-

campus, the year marked the start of teaching

spectrometer which is used for a range of

nent through academic excellence, innovation in

Chemistry to the Engineering students in the

chemical and biological experiments.

research and critical engagement with society.

revamped ex-Biology laboratories. Significant

through academic excellence,
innovation in research and critical
engagement with society.”

refurbishments to the Engineering Faculty’s

The College continued its prolific research

During the year the College celebrated the

facilities are well underway and occupancy is

output and maintained its longstanding position

fruition of several long-term building and

expected in late 2009.

as the top producer of research in the University.
At the end of the year two more researchers,

refurbishment projects that have dominated
The R90 million

To enhance the competitiveness of our

Professor Mike Henning and Professor Steve

Biological and Conservation Sciences building

researchers, the University was the first

Johnson, achieved the sought-after NRF A-

on the Westville campus was officially opened

institution in Africa to invest in the latest MALDI-

rating. They joined the College’s other A-rated

in March by the Minister of Education, Mrs

TOF Mass Spectrometer.

researchers, Professor Pat Berjak and Professor

Naledi Pandor. This 12 000 m2 state-of-the-

School of Chemistry, the instrument is being

Rob Gous, in this prestigious category.

art building over five levels will significantly boost

used by researchers in Chemistry, Pharmacy,

Serban Proches, Senior Lecturer in the School

teaching and research facilities. The Minister of

Biochemistry and Microbiology.

One of its

of Environmental Sciences received the NRF

Science and Technology, Dr Mosibudi Mangena,

main features is its capacity to diagnose the

President’s Award and was granted a P-rating

inaugurated the new Science and Technology

Tuberculosis virus in a fraction of the time it

recognising him as a future international leader

Education Centre which was created by

currently takes.

in his field.

the Faculty of Science and Agriculture to

Chemistry upgraded its Nuclear Magnetic

its activities for five years.
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College of Agriculture. Engineering and Science

College of Agriculture. Engineering and Science

of 60 years since the advent of agricultural

scientists, extended its influence by spawning

in Business: The Inina Experience” walked off

and Construction made history. She became

the African Sanitation Knowledge Network

teaching and research on the University’s

the West African Centre for Crop Improvement.

with one of four prestigious Global Best Awards.

the first woman in the Faculty of Engineering

by the Pollution Research Group comprising

Pietermaritzburg campus.

Established at the University of Ghana, its focus

Supporting 147 rural women crafters, Inina has

to be promoted to Associate Professor and to

members from Chemical Engineering and the

is on training plant breeders in West Africa.

evolved from a turnover of R10 000 in 2002 to

become Deputy Head of School.

Biological and Conservation Sciences; and

The “AgFac”, as

the group of agriculturalists has always been

Its contribution is not only in the complex fields

Engineering’s UNITE Programme, promoting

another accolade when its Protected Area

Responsible community engagement and

Physics’ Centre for Quantum Technology. This

of agricultural sciences, but covers the full

access to learning for historically disadvantaged

Management Distance Learning Programme

the promotion of science, engineering and

project involves the installation of a quantum

ambit of civil society, community engagement,

members of South African society, celebrated 20

was named the joint winner of the 2008 National

technology to the youth have always featured

communication solution over the eThekwini

research and teaching. Home to one of the

years of existence by establishing a new project

Association of Distance and Open Learning in

prominently in the College’s activities. During the

Municipality fibre-optic network infrastructure

oldest agricultural programmes in the country

entitled 20/20 Vision. Set up to raise R20 million

South Africa (NADEOSA) Award.

year, the College picked up a number of awards

which will contribute to Durban becoming the

and boasting the widest range of agricultural

to build a new Engineering and Technology

for its interactive exhibits at science festivals and

world’s first Quantum City.

disciplines at any African institution, we look

Access Centre, the project will advance

Leading academic and scientist, Professor

shows. The mastermind behind many of these

forward to playing a major role in securing

technological awareness and engineering as

Pat Berjak from the School of Biological and

exhibits, Mr Mark Horan, a Hydrology lecturer,

the future of agricultural development and

a career choice for school learners.

UNITE

Conservation Sciences, received the prestigious

was recognised as one of South Africa’s

agribusiness on the continent.

was also instrumental in signing a historic R1.4

President’s Lifetime Achievement Award for 2008

top performers in Science, Engineering and

million bursary deal with Telkom to train the next

from the NRF. This award is presented each year

Technology (SET) Innovation. He received a

Of significance was the R26.2 million sub-

generation of electronic engineers. Each year

to a South African who has made “outstandingly

National Science and Technology Forum (NSTF)

contract awarded to the College’s African Centre

for a three-year period, this bursary agreement

extraordinary contributions to the development

Communicator Award for impacting SET public

for Food Security (ACFS) by USAID through

will allow 10 deserving learners the opportunity

of science in and for South Africa”.

awareness over the last five years.

the Food and Nutrition Technical Assistance

to join the UNITE Programme, ultimately

Communications expert, Professor Fambirai

(FANTA). This will enable the Centre to conduct

preparing them for the rigorous demands of the

Takawira, was presented with the Department

Other notable activities within the College

a much-needed food security analysis in

engineering profession.

of Trade and Industry’s Excellence Award in

included: the joint hosting with South African

Professor PJK Zacharias

the Best Black Researcher category for his

Breweries of the world’s inaugural inter-university

Deputy Vice-Chancellor and

southern Africa over a five-year period. In 2008
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the launch of the Quantum City Project by

one of R1.2 million in 2008. CEAD received

known, has had a significant influence in Africa.

Digital

a milestone for the ACFS was the graduation

In the year under review, the College witnessed

contribution to electrical engineering. Professor

beer brewing challenge on the Pietermaritzburg

of its first two PhD students – a first for UKZN

an

group

Delia North, Head of Statistics and Actuarial

campus; BHP Billiton-sponsored functions

and for the world. Together with the graduates

achievements as well as world - wide recognition

Science also excelled in her field of study and

to recognise the top student achievers in the

from the African Centre for Crop Improvement

on a number of levels. One of the Centre for

received the Medal of Honour by Die Suid-

College; a teaching and learning seminar

(ACCI), these scholars represent a real boost in

Environment, Agriculture and Development’s

Afrikaanse Akademie vir Wetenskap en Kuns.

conducted by experts from the University of

terms of addressing the food crisis in Africa. The

(CEAD) outreach initiatives won an International

At a more local level, Professor Cristina Trois

Illinois at Urbana-Champaign aimed at improving

ACCI, which trains a new generation of crop

Partnership Award. “Empowering Rural Women

from the School of Civil Engineering, Surveying

academics’ capacity to deliver; the launch of
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Health
Sciences
College of

Professor LR Uys
“Teaching and learning in the
College continues to thrive …
Research remains central to the
functioning of the College.”
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Promoting Teaching & Research
The Nelson R Mandela School of Medicine’s final year results reflected a high standard of teaching.

Teaching and learning in the College continues to

Research remains central to the functioning

by the NRF for her outstanding contribution

thrive. Three academics in the School of Nursing

of the College. The annual College Research

to the nursing field. The Nelson R Mandela

were awarded a Distinguished Teachers’ Award

Symposium had a record number of 68 oral

School of Medicine initiated a Research

as a group. A total of 177 students out of the

presentations over three tracks.

Course aimed at improving the research skills

206 students passed with the highest average

of its 1 000 plus registrars.

achieved across all the disciplines that has been

Professor Sabiha Essack, Dean of the Faculty

achieved to date since the inception of the new

of Health Sciences together with Dr Fatima

CAPRISA made a significant contribution

programme. Clinical teaching was enhanced by

Suleman, current Head of School: Pharmacy

to the fight against TB and HIV when they

a Clinical Training Grant from the Department of

and Pharmacology won the Sandoz Best

announced the results of one of their studies

Education which allowed for the establishment

Presentation by an Academic Award at the annual

with important policy implications. CAPRISA

of a Phantom Head Laboratory for the School

conference of the South African Association of

found that mortality among TB-HIV co-infected

of Dentistry, and the appointment of many

Hospital and Institutional Pharmacists. Their

patients can be reduced by a remarkable 55

more clinical teachers for 2009. The School of

topic was titled, “Treatment Guidelines and

percent if antiretroviral therapy is provided

Dentistry and the Disciplines of Physiotherapy

Nosocomial Infections: the KwaZulu-Natal

with the TB treatment. The recognition of the

and Optometry were awarded full accreditation

Experience”. The study evaluated standard

HIV research at UKZN was confirmed when

of their professional programmes by the Health

treatment guidelines for nosocomial infections

the organising committee of the International

Professionals Council of South Africa (HPCSA)

in the context of antibiotic resistance within the

Aids Conference 2008 in Mexico selected

and each received several commendations.

public health care system in KwaZulu-Natal.

UKZN as the only official hub to web-cast the

Professor Leana Uys was awarded a ‘B’ rating

proceedings to Africa.
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College of Health Sciences

The University supported the work of its

and raised significant sponsorship from the

scientists by making available state-of-the-art

corporate sector and a host of pharmaceutical

equipment such as an Electrospray Ionisation

companies during its first year of inception.

Quadrople time of flight mass spectrometer, a
Matrix Assisted Laser desorption time of flight
mass spectrometer, an X-Ray Diffractometer
and a CEM Microwave Peptide Synthesizer.

Community service takes many forms in the
College. Professor Basil Pillay, Head of the
Department of Behavioural Medicine was elected
President of the Psychological Society of South
Africa. Professor of Optometry, Kovin Naidoo has
been elected as Regional Chairperson for Africa

Professor LR Uys

for the International Agency for the Prevention

Deputy Vice-Chancellor and

of Blindness. The Department of Sport Science

Head of College

performed protocol endurance testing to South
Africa’s dressage team of the Para-Olympic
Games for the first time in South Africa. A
group of medical experts led by Professor
Sandie Thomson of the Department of Surgical
Disciplines performed 61 hernia operations in six
days in Ghana. The Discipline of Physiotherapy
in partnership with the Department of Health
and the Health Professionals Council of South
Africa achieved a first in the country when 22
mid-level workers in Physiotherapy completed
their training at UKZN. Finally, the Faculty of
Health Sciences launched its Endowment Fund
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College of

Humanities

Meaningful Teaching and Learning

Professor FNM Mazibuko
“Overall, the essence of the
activities of the College is

The Humanities remain a complex academic entity which requires innovative leadership, effective
communication within and amongst disciplines, decisiveness and selective upward delegation on the
part of the Dean [HDSS], and qualified and visionary leadership.

to enhance and promote
meaningful learning, teaching
and productivity by students
and staff.”

Overall, the essence of the activities of the

Postgraduate and research activities:

of academic and economic viability, the School

College is to enhance and promote meaningful

As an initiative to reinforce Postgraduate and

of Adult Education and Higher Education is

learning, teaching and productivity by students

research activities, the Gandhi-Luthuli Chair

under review with the intention of reintegrating

and staff. The following key developments took

of Peace Studies was launched in July and

its components into other Schools and

place in 2008:

Professor John Moolakkuttu from India was

Programmes. The plan is to reduce the number

appointed the first Chair of Peace Studies in

of Schools from six to five in the Faculty of

Inaugural Lectures:

the School of Politics. The Memorandum of

Education. The focus of the programme offerings

In 2006 the College revived the convention

Understanding between the University and

in this Faculty is on national priorities in teacher

of Inaugural Lectures by full professors. Two

the Mazisi Kunene Foundation was finalised. A

training. The following Schools were reviewed

inaugural lectures were held in 2007 and seven

professorial post is now available for the Mazisi

internally and are effecting recommendations

in 2008. These were officiated by the Deputy

Kunene Chair.

resultant from the reviews:

Vice-Chancellor and Head of the Colleges
of Humanities and attended regularly by the

Quality Academic Programmes

Deputy Vice-Chancellor of the College of Law

Internal reviews have resulted in the consoli-

and Management Studies, the Deputy Vice-

dation of specific academic programmes such

Chancellor, Research, and staff and students.

as undergraduate programmes in the School of
Religion and Theology, German and Afrikaans
in the School of Languages, Literature and
Linguistics. In line with the operational principles
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College of Humanities
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School of Religion and Theology

Brochure was introduced. The targetted

Identity, Marketing, Publicity,

Representing the College and UKZN

Dr Lorraine Singh and Professor Dennis

Training. This task group addressed and made

School of Literary Studies, Media and

groups are high performers and students with

Communication and International

During the course of 2008 the Deputy

Francis mentor student teachers in Music,

recommendations on social work education and

Creative Arts

strong potential to succeed. The publication

Collaboration

Vice-Chancellor represented the College at

Drama and Arts.

related occupations, qualifications (articulation

School of Development Studies and the

is part of school outreach and distributed

Existing

were

different provincial, national, and international

Fastforward: Mentor is Professor Jill Brad-

and

Centre for Civil Society

at annual events such as Parents’ Day.

reviewed and a College workshop held to reach

professional events and conferences. As part of

bury (Psychology) and LEAP candidate Mr

education, and policy and legislation.

Internal Audit for Centre for African

Transformation and equity are not engaged

consensus on those that have to remain active

staff development I attended and participated in

Siyanda Ndlovu (postgraduate student in

Literary Studies

with only as compliance issues but are linked

(North, African, South-South). The introduction

the Leadership Foundation for Higher Education

Psychology).

The School of Anthropology, Gender Stud-

to the qualitative transformation of core

of a quarterly College Newsletter and increased

(LFHE) senior management workshop for four

Ndumo Youth Programme: mentor is Dr

ies and History will be reviewed in May

business, academic leadership and support

use of the staff-student newspaper ukzndaba

weeks. This is a well-planned and relevant

Harald Witts (Politics).

2009.

given for productivity and performance. This

for profiling academic, staff and students

programme which integrates contemporary

COROBRIK: Annual Design Competition

is evident in the type of academic leadership

activities are tools that have been used more

corporate-academic management and HR

for students in the Architecture Programme

Governance and Academic Leadership

and academic support and throughputs for

frequently for communication. These have

models designed and presented for academic

(second years through final year). Co-

The second cohort of academic leadership,

2008.

generated interest within the Schools and their

leadership.

ordinated by Professor Adebayo and Ms

Heads and Deputy Heads of Schools was

Eighteen staff members who completed their

affiliates. On the performing arts the School

appointed successfully with the stipulated

Doctoral Studies in the Faculty of Humanities,

of Music is better focused, and the Centre for

Student-driven Programmes

Psychology Post Graduate Research

minimum requirements for the University, merit,

Development and Social Sciences (HDSS)

Creative Arts (CCA) held three successful and

Students in both Faculties are actively engaged

Conference now an annual research event

Professor FNM Mazibuko

equity and capacity building as guiding principles.

were supported by the Mellon Foundation

prestigious international festivals (Time of the

in university-community learner programmes

in Psychology.

Deputy Vice-Chancellor and

The 2008-2010 academic leadership within the

to pursue research. The Deputy Dean

Writer, Poetry Africa, and Jomba). All these

that link UKZN to the schooling system in ways

College is evidence of merit and equity. The

(postgraduate) is tasked with the responsibility

activities were characterised by professionalism,

that promote and market UKZN as an institution

Community engagement remains strong, with

College Management Forum finalised the 2009

of monitoring productivity in 2008-2009.

strong community engagement of learners,

of choice. They have undertaken successful

more to be done. Some of the highlights for

Strategic Plan and Strategic Map. Attendance

Funding requests for the Gandhi-Luthuli

young artists, writers and poets, academic and

winter programmes with learners from selected

2008 were the the McCords History Project

and participation within the statutory College

Chair (School of Politics) and Mazisi Kunene

other writers, strong female performer/writer

rural and urban schools. These are Faculty-linked

by Professors Catherine Burns and Julie Parle

structures remained high and productive.

Chair (School of IsiZulu Studies) have been

presence (about 60% of all the participants)

programmes with academics and postgraduate

in preparation for the McCords Centenary

discussed with the Department of Arts and

and partnerships. Students and staff within

students as mentors. Student formations in the

Celebration in May 2009, and training of

Institutional Transformation and other

Culture.

the College attend and participate at the CCA

College tend to operate on the same model and

traditional leaders and a book on the project

Strategic Activities

In pursuance of merit, equity, transformation

workshops and discussions. The School of

governance principles as these of UKZN.

(Dr Thokozani Xaba).

Recruitment and marketing of the College

and staff recruitment, deliberate and planned

Music provided music renditions for the 21

programmes is an ongoing challenge with

efforts were made to recruit staff locally and

graduation ceremonies in 2008.

Some of the programmes are:

Professional Board for Social Work

a strong focus on postgraduate students.

internationally, particularly for Architecture

Masakhane Leadership Programme: Pro-

Between 2005-June 2009 I served on this

Linked to reviews, a College Marketing

and Politics.

fessor Thabisile Buthelezi, Mr Thabo Msibi.

Board and on its task group on Education and
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progression),

continued

professional

Althea Brown.
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College of

Law and
Management Studies
Professor JC Mubangizi
“The year 2008 gave us
the opportunity to turn our
attention to strategic planning,

A Vibrant Environment
Having focused on strengthening College governance structures, ensuring adherence to policies
and procedures, and strengthening quality assurance mechanisms during the previous year
(2007), the year 2008 gave us the opportunity to turn our attention to strategic planning, enhancing
interdisciplinary research in the College and ensuring the quality, viability and sustainability of all
Units, Centres and Institutes in the College.
To that end the College held a Strategic

and Student Awards Ceremony on 21

participated.

Planning Workshop and ran two College

April 2008. Professor Kader Asmal,

From 29 June to 11 July 2008, the

Research Workshops. The College Inter-

former Minister of Education, delivered

Faculty of Law hosted the Fifth University

disciplinary Research Workshop was held

the Lecture. Professor Asmal was also

of Joensuu/United Nations Environment

on 22 July 2008 and the College Research

nominated by the Faculty of Law to

Programme

Centres and Institutes in

Workshop for Women took place on 15

receive an honorary Doctorate in Law

International

the College.”

August 2008. Both workshops were hugely

which was conferred upon him on 22

making and Diplomacy. This course,

successful. A review of all the Units, Centres

April 2008.

which is a collaborative effort between

enhancing inter-disciplinary
research in the College and
ensuring the quality, viability
and sustainability of all Units,

and Institutes in the College was conducted
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(UNEP)

Course

Environmental

on
Law-

the University of Joensuu (Finland), the

and completed in May 2008. A report was

Together with the Commonwealth Legal

United Nations Environment Programme

submitted and both Faculties immediately

Education Association (South Asia

(UNEP) and UKZN, is designed to

set upon the process of implementing the

Chapter), the Faculty of Law hosted

transfer past experience in the field of

recommendations in the report.

an international Judges’ Symposium

international environmental law to the

on Social Justice from 25 – 29 May

future negotiators of environmental

In the particular context of the two Faculties

2009 at Howard College. A delegation

agreements. In addition, it aims to

that form the College, several initiatives were

of 25 Indian judges, led by the Chief

provide a forum to foster North-South

undertaken and significant achievements

Justice of India, the Honourable Justice

co-operation and to take stock of

were made:

Balakrishnan, attended the Symposium

recent developments in negotiations

The Law Faculty hosted the 6th Victoria

in which members of the South African

as well as in implementation of

and Griffiths Mxenge Memorial Lecture

judiciary and other legal luminaries

multilateral environmental agreements
2008

annual
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College of Law and Management studies

and diplomatic practices in the area.

Students

in

the

Faculty

of

of the competition was Mr Matthew

The School of Management suc-

NextEd. Supported by IBM and the

Kruger.

cessfully set up collaborative partner-

African Association of Universities, the

ships with overseas universities, with

project is investigating the use of online

Law

participated in the following national

The Faculty of Management Studies

some of our students attending a Sum-

environments for content delivery in virtual

and international Moot competitions

was not to be outdone:

mer School held for Masters students

classrooms.

at Chemnitz University in Germany. In

UKZN, Daystar University in Kenya and

in 2008: the All Africa Moot Court
Competition at which final year students

The School of Accounting achieved

addition, the School has signed various

the University of Massachusetts in the

Ms Norma Wheeler and Mr Matthew

much improved pass rates for first-time

tripartite agreements with universities in

United States is already underway. The

Kruger represented our University. The

candidates in SAICA’s QE Part 1 2008

the Democratic Republic of Congo and

School received funding of $12 000

UKZN team achieved 3rd place overall

National examinations, with four of their

Belgium.

for the NextEd programme which will

out of 73 English speaking teams; the

students being placed in the top ten.

National Trade Moots at which our

Professor

Pillay

from

Professor JC Mubangizi

the

to support collaborative learning and

Deputy Vice-Chancellor and
Head of College

Justin Visagie, a student in the School

Leadership Centre was awarded the

has already won a grant from the

and Mr Justin Renolds represented the

of Economics & Finance, received the

Distinguished Teachers’ Award for 2008

Association of African Universities (AAU)

Faculty and achieved 3rd place overall.

Fulbright Scholarshp for doctoral study,

in addition to receiving a British Council

for approximately R1.3 million.

Mr Reynolds also won the award for

and will be commencing his doctoral

Fellowship.

best oralist; the First Year Mock Trials

programme abroad in 2009.

All of these highlights and achievements
The School of Information Systems

are an indication of the vibrant academic,

year students Ms Tatum Govender and

With regard to community outreach,

and Technology was awarded a

research and community engagement

Mr Sihle Bulose represented the Faculty.

the Graduate School of Business

contract by the Provincial Department

activities that characterised the College

They achieved 4th place overall.

conducted a Business Skills programme

of Education to equip the province’s

of Law and Management Studies during

for pupils from Laduma High, as well as

educators with basic computer skills.

2008. The College will continue to play its

The Faculty hosted its annual Final

hosting a Matric class from the Dumehlezi

Furthermore, a joint effort by the School

role in contributing to the realisation of the

Year Students’ Ellie Newman Moot

High School.

The GSB hosted a

of Information Systems & Technology,

University’s vision and mission.

Competition on 16 October 2008.

number of breakfasts and seminars

the Department of Telemedicine and

Presiding at the Moot were High Court

throughout the year and were placed

UKZN Innovation saw the installation of

judges, Justices Nicholson, Pillay and

6th in the Professional Management

the first fully-fledged podcast producer

Japie. Members of the legal profession,

Review rating, as well as being a finalist

solution in South Africa based on

students, parents and other dignitaries

in the FNB KZN Top Business Awards.

Apple Technologies. The School also

were also in attendance. The winner

2008

Kriben

explore the use of Web 2.0 technologies

final year students Mr Gareth Courtois

held in Bloemfontein at which our first
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Physical
Planning and
Operations

Operational Support
During 2008 the portfolio of Corporate Governance was managed on a caretaker basis through the
office of the Vice-Chancellor and with the assistance of members of the Executive Management.
During the second part of the year, the University

As a result of an interview process, new

Council considered the need to realign certain

Directors of RMS and CMS were appointed to

“2009 will see the consolidation

functions within the portfolio of Corporate

take effect on 1 December 2008 and 1 January

of this critical portfolio to effect

Governance, in particular those of Internal

2009 respectively, and the Executive Director,

co-ordinated operational support

Audit, Risk Management Services and Property

Physical Planning and Operations post to be

& Facilities Management.

effective on 1 January 2009.

As a result, it was decided that in future Internal

It is envisaged that 2009 will see the consolidation

Audit should vest with the Registrar’s Office and

of this critical portfolio to effect co-ordinated

a further decision was made to create a whole

operational support for the teaching, learning

new portfolio embracing the Divisions of Risk

and research enterprise.

Mr CW Poole

for the University.”

Management Services (RMS), Information and
Communication Technology (ICT) and a new

Mr CW Poole
Executive Director: Physical Planning
and Operations

Division of Campus Management Services
(CMS), this to be managed by an Executive
Director, Physical Planning and Operations. This
dictated the need to recruit two new Divisional
Directors, namely, Risk Management Services
and Campus Management Services; in addition
recruitment for the newly formed Executive
Director position was initiated.
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Council’s Report on

			 Corporate
			 Governance
Mr M Mia
Mrs M Jean-Louis

A Guardianship Role
The University is committed to the highest level of corporate governance and has associated itself
with the principles of discipline, transparency, independence, accountability, responsibility, fairness
and social responsibility, as advocated in the King Reports on Corporate Governance.
The Council endorses and, as far as it is

year under review, the Council functioned in

direction of the University, approval of major

practicable to do so, applies the Code of

accordance with the prevailing Statute for

developments and the receipt of regular reports

Corporate Practices and Conduct, and the

the University of KwaZulu-Natal, which was

from the Vice-Chancellor, other executive

Code of Ethical Behaviour and Practice set out

promulgated on 14 July 2006. In terms of this

in the King II Report. This commitment has

statute, the Council comprises 30 members, the

been reinforced by Council’s adoption of its

majority of whom (63%) are neither employees

own customised Code of Conduct, including

nor students of the University.

disciplinary provisions, for members of Council.

It is made up as follows:

trust funds administered by the University, the
Council recognises the need to conduct the
business of the University with integrity, ethically

the day-to-day operations of the University’s
business.

Council met six times during the

year under review. Details of its composition
and meeting attendance statistics for the year,

In supporting these Codes and in fulfilling
its guardianship role in relation to public and

officers and members of management on

Independent non-executive
members 11
Government-appointed
representatives 5
Convocation representatives 3

together with those of the major committees of
Council, are contained on pages 6 to 7 of this
Annual Report. In discharging its governance

Executive management staff 3

role, Council is supported by a number of

and in accordance with generally accepted

Employee representatives 6

standing committees, including a Remuneration

commercial and legal practices. Part of the

Student representatives 2

mandate of the Audit & Risk Committee is to

Committee, a Finance Committee, a Resources
Total 30

Planning Committee and an Audit & Risk

monitor compliance with these Codes.
Committee.
In terms of good governance, the role of the
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The Council

Chairperson of Council is separate from that of

The University of KwaZulu-Natal Council was

the chief executive officer, the Vice-Chancellor.

incorporated on 1 January 2004 in terms of

The Council of the University of KwaZulu-

the Higher Education Act of 1997. During the

Natal is responsible for the overall strategic

All of these Committees are

formally constituted with specified terms of
reference and in all cases comprise a majority of
external members of Council. Brief details of the
respective Committees follow on the next page.
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Remuneration Committees

Committee has specific responsibility for

independent non-executive members of the

meeting its statutory reporting

its Council members, managers, employees,

Approval of Report on Corporate

The Remuneration Committee acts for Council

investment management, loan finance and risk

University Council.

responsibilities.

students, customers, suppliers, competitors,

Governance

in proposing changes to the Conditions of

management issues, and for ensuring (through

donors and society at large. The University’s

Council’s commitment to good corporate

Service as they relate to employees’ salaries

the office of the Chief Finance Officer) compliance

Audit and Risk Committee

The committee was chaired by Mrs M Jean-

policies include provisions to deal with conflicts

governance is reaffirmed at least annually and

and benefits, and is responsible also for the

with the University’s Financial Regulations.

The Audit and Risk Committee consists of

Louis, an independent non-executive member

of interest. Council members and all staff who

consequently this report was approved by the

five members of Council, none of whom is

of Council, who has prepared a separate report

have decision-making authority, either individually

University Council on 26 June 2009 and is
signed on its behalf by:

periodic review and determination of mandates
for the University’s management team in its

The committee was chaired by Mr M Mia for

either an employee or a student, and two non-

on Internal Control and Risk Management, as

or jointly through their service on committees,

negotiations with staff representative bodies in

the first half of 2008 and, thereafter, by Mr S C

Council members with appropriate expertise.

is required for statutory purposes. Her report

are expected to observe the University’s ethical

the Joint Bargaining Forum (JBF). As in prior

Ngcobo, both of whom are independent non-

Six meetings were held during 2008; these

forms part of this Annual Report.

obligations in order to conduct business through

years, the Remuneration Committee played

executive members of the University Council.

meetings were also attended by the external

a strongly supportive and guiding role to the

and internal auditors and by appropriate

Employee and Student Participation

management during 2008, which contributed

Resources Planning Committee

members of executive and senior operational

(Co-operative Governance)

In terms of the respective Codes of Conduct

significantly to a timely and amicable settlement

The

long-term

management. Both the external and internal

The University of KwaZulu-Natal utilises a variety

for members of Council and Executive

Mr M Mia

of the annual pay award between the JBF

strategic plans, together with the annual

auditors had unrestricted access to the Audit

of participating structures to manage issues

management, those bound by the Codes are

Chairman of Council

parties. A separate Remuneration Committee,

operating and capital budgets, is considered

and Risk Committee, which ensured that their

affecting employees and students directly

obliged to disclose any noteworthy interests

comprising four independent, non-executive

by the Resources Planning Committee, in

independence was in no way impaired. The

and materially. These structures are designed

(as defined) in a register of contracts. Likewise,

members, is responsible for considering and

conjunction with the Finance Committee.

Audit and Risk Committee operates in terms of

to achieve good employer/employee and

potential or actual conflicts of interests are

deciding upon executive salaries and benefits in

During 2008, it was responsible, inter alia,

a written charter which provides assistance to

student relations through effective sharing of

required to be declared.

relation to prevailing market conditions.

for ensuring that budgetary and financial

Council in:-

relevant information, representation on all major

provisions underpin Council’s commitment to

University’s

medium

and

Various general

implications of the five year capital development

ensuring compliance with applicable legisla-

University committees, consultation and the

ethical conduct. These are characterised inter

Mrs M Jean-Louis

The committees were chaired by

programme and the annual operating budgets

tion, the requirements of regulatory authori-

identification and resolution of conflicts. These

alia by the requirements to act in good faith, to

Chair of Audit and Risk Committee

Mrs M Mnganga, Vice-Chair of Council.

were considered fully prior to being approved

ties and applicable codes of corporate

structures embrace goals relating to productivity,

serve the interests of the University, to maintain

by Council. In this respect, it holds primary

conduct;

career security, legitimacy and identification with

the trust of Council or the Executive, as the case

Finance Committee

responsibility for recommending to Council the

determining the adequacy and effectivness

the University’s mission. In the event of irregular

may be, the duty to respect Council decisions

The Finance Committee is responsible for

allocation of resources to strategic University

of financial and internal controls, accouning

conduct and potential conflict arising, the

and to maintain confidentiality. Members of

monitoring the University’s financial position –

initiatives and as between the academic and

policies, reporting and disclosure;

contract with an independent whistleblowing

Council and the Executive are required to

specifically, to ensure its ability to operate as

support service sectors in accordance with

in conjunction with the Finance Committee,

service allows for anonymous information to

acknowledge and uphold the respective

a “going concern” – and for the adequacy of

the University’s resource allocation model and

assessing and managing all areas of

be communicated to the University and to be

Codes by making signed declarations to this

its financial accounting, treasury management

budgeting framework.

financial risk;

followed up, as appropriate.

effect, which are, in turn, lodged with the

and control systems. It met six times in 2008

three times in 2008.

The committee met

and considered a range of matters relevant to

62

the use of fair commercial practice.

Registrar’s office.

reviewing and approving audit plans and re
ports emanating from external auditors;

Code of Ethics

the fiduciary duties of the University Council

During 2008, the committee functioned under

monitoring the scope, adequacy and effec-

The University is committed to the highest

and advised Council on financial strategy, policy

the chairmanship of Councillor F Peer and Mr

tiveness of the internal audit function;

standards of integrity, behaviour and ethics

and the University’s budgets.

M T Ngwenya, both of whom are, likewise,

2008
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Internal Control and
Risk Management
Mrs M Jean-Louis

Safeguarding Assets
The Audit and Risk Committee, acting on behalf of the University Council, is responsible for overseeing
the University’s systems of control and, together with the Finance Committee, for ensuring that
management have implemented a risk management process that is both adequate and effective in
providing reasonable assurance against material loss and misstatement.
Systems of Internal Control

in part on the calibre and commitment of the

and third parties, the relevant controls and

The University maintains systems of internal

University’s leadership and management, in part

procedures are designed and implemented to

control to safeguard its assets against their

on clear, consistent and timely communication

minimise the risk of fraud or error.

unauthorised acquisition, use or disposition,

of information throughout the University, and

and to ensure that proper accounting records

in part on the careful selection, training and

Internal Audit

are maintained. Such systems are designed to

development of its staff.

The role of the Internal Audit Services is to provide
independent assurance on the adequacy and

provide reasonable assurance to all University

64
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stakeholders and, in particular, to Council

Information technology systems utilised by

effectiveness of the internal control systems on

regarding the integrity and reliability of financial

the University have been developed and

an ongoing basis and to report their findings and

information, and assurance that the University’s

implemented

and

recommendations to management, the Audit

assets are protected and that its resources are

documented standards to achieve efficiency,

and Risk Committee and Council. Management

efficiently and effectively used.

effectiveness, reliability and security. Accepted

endeavours to ensure that appropriate and

standards are applied to protect the privacy

timely corrective actions are taken to address

These systems, inter alia, include documented

of, and ensure the control over, all data. As far

control deficiencies and that other opportunities

organisational structures; a clear delineation

as is practicable, systems are also designed

to improve these systems are pursued as far as

of responsibilities, including the devolution of

to promote ease of use for all users.

is practicable.

authority, as appropriate; established policies

development, maintenance and operation of all

and procedures; and codes of conduct that are

systems are under the control of competently

The Internal Audit Services have, during the

conducive to fostering a strong ethical climate.

trained staff. In utilising electronic technology

past four years in the post-merger period,

The efficacy of these systems is dependent

to conduct transactions with staff, students

been augmented to enable adequate focus to

according

to

defined

The

2008
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Internal Control and Risk Management

Internal Control and Risk Management

be placed on the assurance and investigative

being assessed and will be the subject of

of operations. Management is responsible

on the effectiveness of the University’s risk

described in the notes to the Consolidated

aspects of internal audit. This augmentation

an independent report to the Audit and Risk

to Council for designing, implementing and

management processes.

Annual Financial Statements.

has

co-sourced

Committee shortly. An important initiative to

monitoring the process of risk management

arrangements with the auditing companies,

further strengthen the control environment has

and this is considered to be a key performance

The University’s policy with regard to insurance

PricewaterhouseCoopers

Ngubane

been a decision by the University Council to set

area, both collectively and also individually for

and risk cover is set and monitored by the Fi-

and Company until 31 December 2008 and,

up an Ombud’s Office, which is currently being

members of the Executive.

nance Committee. The University is a participant

subsequently, with Ernst & Young. The focus

established under the direction of the Audit and

of the internal audit plan during 2006, 2007 and

Risk Committee.

been

achieved

through

and

2008 was a series of reviews of the key financial

The University continues to operate in a relatively

institutions (TERISA), which provides both

high-risk environment. Resultant challenges are

cost effective insurance and service expertise.

These reviews have revealed a

There are inherent limitations to the effectiveness

being addressed through an appropriate risk

Consequently, it is adequately covered in terms

number of control weaknesses, which have been

of any system of internal control, including the

management strategy that seeks to enhance

of its insurance policy against fire and related

reported to management and the Audit and Risk

possibility of human error and the circumvention,

risk awareness amongst key stakeholders and

risks, accidental damage, business interruption,

Committee. Management has undertaken to

or overriding, of controls. Accordingly, even an

members of governance structures, and to

theft, employee infidelity, and both public and

Mrs M Jean-Louis

give effect to remedial actions and action dates,

effective internal control system can provide

engage with and mitigate documented risks.

employer’s liability.

Chair of the Audit & Risk Committee

the status of which is monitored on an ongoing

only reasonable assurance with respect to the

basis by the Internal Audit service providers.

safeguarding of assets and financial statement

The previously documented risk register was,

Financial Risk

preparation. Notwithstanding such limitations,

during the latter part of 2008 and in the first

Decisions on the level of financial risk

Over the past two years, progress was made

the Audit and Risk Committee, acting for and

quarter of 2009, interrogated and updated

undertaken are made by the University’s

in enhancing the control environment by the

on behalf of Council, has obtained appropriate

during a workshop attended by the University

Finance Committee and enforced by the

development, approval and implementation

representations from management, internal audit

leadership. A process is currently being imple-

Chief Finance Officer and the Finance Division

of a formal fraud policy and the introduction

and external audit, which provided reasonable

mented to regularly assess the effectiveness of

in terms of established limits by reference

of a “whistleblowing” service. The latter is

assurance regarding the integrity and reliability

existing mitigating and compensating controls.

to the particular transaction type and are

an independently administered service and

of the annual financial statements.

It is anticipated that the imminent appoint-

based on an assessment, in each case, of

ment of a Risk and Compliance Manager in the

the values and the counter-parties involved.

processes.

provides University stakeholders with a hotline

66

in a national consortium of higher education

facility to anonymously report fraud, deviations

Risk Management

restructured Division of Corporate Governance

Financial risks faced by the University include

from procurement and other policies, all forms

Council is accountable for the process of

and the re-performance of a series of formal

credit risk, liquidity risk, foreign currency risk,

of misconduct and other alleged irregularities,

risk management across the University and

risk assessments will further develop the

interest rate risk and investment risk. As far

which are then investigated as appropriate.

the Executive has been delegated with the

effectiveness of this function. These processes

as these can be assessed and quantified,

The extent of utilisation of the whistleblowing

responsibility of incorporating the activities

will enable the Audit and Risk Committee to

the respective levels of exposure and the

service and its success to date are currently

related to this function into the normal course

receive regular and independent assurance

measures taken to mitigate such risks are

2008
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Annual Financial Review
Mr RH Clarkson

Consolidated Balance Sheet ( continued )

Overview of 2008 Annual

Westville residences (895 bed spaces), which

the consolidated annual financial statements

Financial Statements (“AFS”)

were occupied in February 2008. In aggregate,

for the University of KwaZulu-Natal (“UKZN”).

Consolidated Balance Sheet

additions to PPE in 2008 amounted to R313.6

The final part of this Annual Report comprises

million (2007: R264.2 million), resulting in

The respective statements cover all activities

positive and, above all, encouraging.

TABLE 2

Liabilities : 2008

that were yet to be recognised in income.

During the year, total liabilities rose by
R151.6 million and, at 31 December

13%

2008, amounted to

Current assets, net of accumulated impairment
40%

R1.40 billion

and results of the University and its subsidiaries,

The financial position of the University as at 31

cumulative investment in PPE during the

losses, reflect a decrease of R9.7 million (2.3%),

including those of the UKZN Foundation Trust.

December 2008, together with comparative

five year post-merger period (2004 to 2008

compared with prior year annual growth of

They therefore provide a comprehensive

figures for 2007, is shown in the consolidated

inclusive) of R891.8 million. When viewed

R12 million (2.9%). Both years were, however,

(58.9% of total assets). These are

record of the University’s financial operations,

balance sheet (page 82 of the AFS). The major

together with future capital commitments of

characterised by declining levels of cash and

analysed in TABLE 2 alongside. It

performance and cash flows for the past year, as

components of assets are analysed in

R1.3 billion variously approved and contracted

cash equivalents (call accounts and short-term

should, however, be noted that more

well as its financial position as at 31 December

TABLE 1 alongside.

for in the ensuing five years, this constitutes an

bank deposits), upon which further comment

than one-half of the total liabilities,

impressive record and speaks volumes for the

follows in the section headed “Consolidated

i.e. R739 million or 52.9% (2007 :

Total assets, amounting to R2.24 billion

level of confidence that investor stakeholders,

Cash Flow Statement”.

at 31 December 2008 (2007 : R2.11

including the Ministry of Education, have in

billion), reflect modest growth of 5.9%

the University.

2008. A commentary on the salient features of
the financial statements follows.
TABLE 1

Assets : 2008

5%

7%

45%

2008
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55.1%) represent post-retirement
obligations and employee-related

Post-retirement obligations
Borrowings
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Employee benefits

During the past year, there was a decline of

benefits which (except for a relatively
small component in respect of

Conversely – and disappointingly, but not

in the University’s restricted purpose funds,

to the state of global markets, the

surprisingly – the 2008 year end net balances

notably in research-related (“education and

sharply declining investment portfolio

of the University’s investment portfolios declined

general”) funds (R110.6 million, or 19.4%) and

assets, the respective accumulated deficits in

University. Interest-bearing liabilities totalled

values

difficult

by R106.3 million, or almost 14% relative to the

endowment funds (R14.5 million, or 4.6%).

respect of Council-controlled funds at the end

R345.9 million at 31 December 2008 (2007

economic environment in which the

end of the prior year, in both cases measured

of each of the past four years were as follows:

:R220.2 million). As explained above, these

University operated for much of 2008.

at prevailing market values. By contrast, a net

Unrestricted Council-controlled funds continue

• 2005 – 23.0%;

increased significantly as a result of the

increase in investments of almost R148 million

to reflect a net deficit situation, of approximately

• 2006 – 17.3%;

capitalisation of a financial lease in respect of

was

(or 24%) occurred in 2007, of which R112

R270.8 million at 31 December 2008 (compared

• 2007 – 12.5% and

the new Westville Residences.

continuing

million represented the reinvestment of realised

to 2007 : R264 million, 2006 : R308 million and

• 2008 – 12.3%.

in

gains, reflecting in turn the ongoing buoyancy in

2005 : R374 million). This matter is, however,

particular additions to property, plant

the equity markets for much of the 2007 year.

receiving the close and ongoing attention of

This

trend and the consequential progress

percentage) is an important measure of the

and

the

The change in reported year end investment

management and the Finance Committee.

towards the re-establishment of financial

University’s funding situation and, despite being

capitalisation of the recently completed

balances may, therefore, be regarded as a

Expressed alternatively as a proportion of total

viability, whilst modest, is nevertheless gradual,

relatively high at 31 December 2008, i.e. 41.1%

and

the

growth

attributable

generally

during

mainly

infrastructural
Property, plant and equipment
Investments
Non-current receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Other current assets

28%

prior year. This is pleasing having regard

Asset
29%

(62.4% of total assets), compared to
R1.25 billion at 31 December 2007

19%

3.2% in the levels of funds, despite growth

(2007 : 19%) relative to the end of the

14%

68

reversal of most of the prior year market gains

equipment

to

2008

development,

(“PPE”)

and

accrued

service

bonuses)

will

not entail a cash outflow by the

The debt : funds ratio (expressed as a
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TABLE 3

Consolidated Income
5 years : 2004-2008

Consolidated Balance Sheet ( continued )
(2007 : 25.4%), is consistent with predetermined

the operating deficit reported in the

budgetary parameters. The related finance

Main Fund (“Council-controlled”) in

costs for the year were comfortably within the

each of the two years in respect of the

Council-prescribed debt threshold (currently,

University’s recurrent operations.

Consolidated Income Statement ( continued )

1200

increased by only 4.5% per annum. Government

and indirect) rendered by the University to all

diminishing enrolments in the past two years. An

subsidies and grants, excluding merger-related

2004

ostensibly “non-Council” activities, most notable

analysis of student fee income as a percentage

and other non-recurrent grants, have increased,

2005

of which are in the form of externally-funded

of total (recurrent) income confirms this declining

on average, by 6.9% per annum during the

research contracts and grants. The respective

trend over the period, as follows:

same period.

sector contributions to the overall net surplus for

• 2004 		

31.0%

the 2008 year were as follows:

• 2005		

30.5%

Increases in consolidated personnel and

• “Specifically funded” activities, R167.7 million

• 2006		

26.8%

operating expenditures were, during 2008,

(2007 : R36.7 million);

• 2007		

26.2%

generally contained within budget and below

R7.3 million

• 2008 		

21.9%

inflation,

2006
2007

one of the cornerstones of the University’s long-

The

Council-controlled

component

term financial planning framework.

of the income statement reflected an

2008

1000

operating deficit, before accounting for
the

abovementioned

(non-recurrent)

items and finance costs, of R77.7 million

• Student residences,

800

The Consolidated Income Statement for the

for 2008 (by comparison, 2007 : R107.4

			

year ended 31 December 2008 is presented

million). This should be compared against

• and Endowed funds,

on page 83. A total (i.e. “consolidated”) net

an initially approved budget deficit of R69

despite

disproportionately

high

increases in certain major employee-related

(2007 : R13.8 million);
R17.4 million

Conversely, the significant growth in specifically-

provisions (i.e. retirement funding and health

(2007 : R65.6 million).

designated activities, notably research grant

care obligations), in utility charges and in repairs

Whilst relatively pleasing, the results of the latter

income, from 2004 to 2008 – albeit erratic from

and maintenance expenditure compared with

			
600

surplus of R99.0 million for the year ended

million (subsequently revised to R105.8

31 December 2008 (2007: surplus of R102.7

million on account of reduced student

were seriously impaired by poor market returns

year to year – is demonstrated by the following

the prior year. Total recurrent expenditure rose

million), whilst satisfactory, must be commented

enrolments) and, comparatively, R75

for the 2008 year.

figures (also expressed as percentages of total

by 16.9% (R337.9 million) in 2008, largely

upon with qualification, having regard to each of

million for the 2007 year. Budgetholders

recurrent income):

as a result of the increase in research and

the following factors:

face a challenge in the current (2009) year

TABLE 3 on the left depicts the major sources

• 2004		

19.6%

related activities. Finance costs, too, increased

The inclusion, by way of “non-recurrent”

to achieve an improved net operating

of income for each of the last five years.

• 2005		

18.6%

significantly as a result of the commencement

items of income and expenditure, of R17.0

result, despite the R57 million budget

Appreciable growth has occurred in government

• 2006		

28.0%

of debt service programmes in respect of

million (2007 : R164.5 million), of which

deficit approved by Council for the year.

subsidies and grants and, also, in the levels of

• 2007		

25.1%

recently completed buildings, including projects

Realised gains arising on the sale of

Surpluses in each of the other major

research activity, the latter being reflected to a

• 2008 		

33.0%

funded in part by external borrowings, and new

investments

greatest

components of the consolidated income

large extent in the category of private contracts,

proportion, i.e. R20.9 million (2007: R112.2

statement served to compensate for
the Main Fund operating deficit. These

net results for both financial years, these are

results highlight the need for a more

appreciable. These investment gains serve,

appropriate system of internal overhead

in part, to ameliorate the adverse impact of

cost recoveries to better account for the

annual
report

Investment income

million). When viewed in the light of the overall

0
Private contracts,
grants and donations

the

200

Student fees

2008

comprise

400

Government subsidies
and grants

70

and reflects instead the effects of successively

R million

3% of recurrent operating income), which forms

Consolidated Income Statement

significant, and increasing, support (both direct

residences that are the subject of a financial

grants and donations. This growth has served

The foregoing increases are equivalent to

to compensate for the relatively static nature of

average annual growth rates during the five

student fee income. Despite an increase in tuition

year period of 23.4% per annum in the case

and other fee income of R29.4 million in 2008

of externally-funded private contracts, grants

(5.8%), this lagged prevailing inflationary trends

and donations, whereas student fee income

lease arrangement.

2008
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TABLE 4

Consolidated Expenditure
5 years : 2004-2008

Consolidated Income Statement ( continued )
The respective annual figures are as follows:

Recurrent Unrestricted Council - controlled

analysed in broad outline for the

• 2004		

66.9%

Operations: 2004 to 2008

2004

five year period from 2004 to 2008

• 2005		

71.0%

2005

alongside in TABLE 4.

• 2006		

69.4%

The Council-controlled component of the

• 2007		

70.1%

income statement reflects the University’s core

• 2008		

65.6%

(unrestricted) operating activities. The results

These
R million
1400

expenditure

trends

are

2006
2007

1200

2008

As part of its endeavour to attain
a financially sustainable operating

1000

800

600

Depreciation and
Finance costs

Bursaries and
scholarships

2008
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Operating expenses
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Personnel costs

0

2004

2005

2006

2007

2008

R’m

R’m

R’m

R’m

R’m

Government subsidies and grants

725

761

777

856

1 026

Tuition and other fee income

444

442

409

421

435

Grants, contracts and donations

36

40

108

54

102

Investment income

28

29

33

17

3

1 233

1 272

1 327

1 348

1 566

for the past five years, which coincide with the
For the purposes of the above analysis, retirement

“post-merger” period, are shown in TABLE 5

adopted a 5 year financial plan

funding contributions and post-retirement costs

alongside. Despite recurrent operating deficits

(2008-2012)

budgetary

are included in personnel costs, although these

during that period, the 2008 results reflect an

framework. These are based on,

are not readily controllable by budgetholders

improved performance, especially if viewed as

inter alia, achieving progressive

as they are consequences of conditions of

a percentage of recurrent income and, also,

reductions in budgeted personnel

service. Both items are significant and warrant

when related to the consolidated surplus from

costs and operating expenses

close attention as part of the University’s future

recurrent operations (R121 million) – the first

(in

as

financial management strategy to achieve its cost

time this has been achieved in the past five

recurrent

containment objectives. In 2008, for example,

years. These figures, although encouraging,

EXPENDITURE

income) from their presently high

the combined sum of these costs was R159.7

serve to emphasise the need for ongoing

Personnel costs

825

903

921

945

1 028

levels and to thereby ensure that

million (or 12.7% of total personnel costs).

financial discipline by all budgetholders during

Other operating expenses

437

371

378

399

499

the ensuing five years, and beyond, to achieve

Bursaries and scholarships

55

33

80

45

51

financial sustainability.

Depreciation

33

46

58

67

66

1 350

1 353

1 437

1 456

1 644

each

and

case
of

a

expressed
total

the current operating deficits are

200

Council - controlled Funds

environment, the University has

percentages

400

TABLE 5 : Summarised Income and Expenditure
(Recurrent Operations) : 2004 - 2008

INCOME

Total recurrent income (A)

reversed over the ensuing four to

Depreciation and finance costs, although not

five years. Between 2004 and 2007,

significant components of expenditure in relation

no meaningful progress was made

to operating costs, are both set to increase

in this respect, but it is pleasing

significantly in line with the current and planned

Operating deficit

to note that in 2008 a significant

capital

Council-controlled funds (A) - (B)

( 117)

( 81)

( 110)

( 108)

( 78)

reduction in the Council-controlled

(actual) and 5 Year target figures are as follows:

Expressed as a % of (A) above

9.5%

6.4%

8.3%

8.0%

5.0%

(i.e. Main Fund) personnel costs

		

Comparatively :

was recorded.

			

( 70)

( 55)

(41)

(58)

121

expenditure

programmes.

Current

• Depreciation : 2008 – 3.9%;
2012 (target) – 6.5%
• Finance costs : 2008 – 1.6%;

Total recurrent expenditure (B)

Consolidated Funds
Operating surplus/(deficit) (R’ m)

2012 (target) – 3.0%
2008
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Funds
(continued)
Consolidated Statement of

Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

The decline in surplus cash balances at the end

the University’s continuing capital infrastructure

pay for academic employees between the

of 2008 was largely a result of:

programme. Once in place, these facilities will

ages of 55 and 60 years of age resulted in an

This statement appears on page 85 of

• Significant investment in infrastructural

alleviate pressure on cash flow.

increase of R16.8 million to the provision and a

The movements in funds for the two years

this report. Despite positive cash flows

development and in the acquisition of plant

ended 31 December 2007 and 2008 are shown

generated from operations during the

and equipment, a large proportion of which, in

Notes to the Consolidated Annual

applied retrospectively to 2007 (being the year

2008 year (R173.2 million, compared

2008 (unlike the prior year), was not financed by

Financial Statements

in which the related Conditions of Service were

that, as a result of a prior year adjustment to

with a net outflow of R3.5 million in 2007),

external borrowings;

the provision for sabbatical leave pay, the

the University experienced a continuing

• Increases in advances in the form of non-

The summary of accounting policies and notes,

members of the University’s Joint Bargaining

2008 opening fund balances were restated

decline in its liquidity levels and net

current receivables, by way of student loans

which are set out on pages 86 to 109, variously

Forum – “JBF”).

downwards by R16.85 million.

cash resources decreased for the third

(R57.5 million), and accounts receivable, notably

describe, the bases of accounting adopted

successive year.

student fees debtors (R18.4 million);

by the University, the extent of its adherence

Audit

Apart from the operating surpluses and deficits

Consequently, yearend balances of cash

• Decreases in the level of investment income,

to recognised financial reporting frameworks

As has been the case since the 2005 year,

to which reference is made earlier in this report,

and equivalents have decreased from

net of interest costs. Despite yielding a net

and details of material components of its

during which the relevant International Financial

almost R320 million in 2005 to R111.7

positive cash flow of R17.7 million in 2008,

assets, liabilities, income and expenditure, all

Reporting Standards (IFRS) changed, the

million at 31 December 2008, a fall of some

this was significantly less than the prior year

of which are required to be disclosed in terms

auditors have once again been obliged to issue

65%. The full extent of the progressive

comparative figure of R47.7 million.

of prevailing reporting requirements. Except as

a qualified audit opinion for the year ended 31

otherwise indicated below, these do not require

December 2008. This qualification stems from

any further elucidation.

the University’s non-compliance with South

TABLE 6

Funds : 2008

Changes in Funds
7%

on page 84 of this report. It should be noted

1%

30%

62%

there was an unprecedented diminution of
R139.8 million (2007: net gain of R824 000)
in the Revaluation Reserve. This was primarily

Education and general funds
Endowed funds
Revaluation reserve
Student residence funds

deterioration in liquidity during this period

as a result of unrealised market losses in
as required, in the change of funds statement

amended by a collective agreement between

is perhaps best illustrated below by the

Stringent measures have been introduced to

respective ratios of cash and cash equivalents

improve cash flow and treasury management.

to total assets, expressed in each case as a

Bank balances, including call and notice

As more fully described in note 27 (on page 108

Accounting Practice AC 123 : – Property, Plant

percentage, as follows (actual cash balances

deposits, are monitored closely on a daily basis.

of this report), the prior year figures have been

and Equipment (IAS 16). As more fully explained

shown, for information, in parentheses) :

Efforts are also being continuously directed to

restated in consequence of a comprehensive

in note 31 to the financial statements (page

• 2005 19.7%

(R319.9 million)

enhance the rate and extent of collections from

review of the basis of accounting for the

109), the University has elected not to adopt

• 2006 13.6%

(R242.0 million)

student and general debtors, although this

provision for leave pay, which was undertaken

the so-called “componentisation approach”

• 2007 8.5%

(R179.7 million)

remains problematic, especially in the prevailing

whilst preparing the current (2008) annual

to depreciation, nor has it reviewed the useful

• 2008 5.0%

(R111.7 million)

poor economic climate. Additional borrowings

financial statements. The resultant change

lives and residual values of individual assets

Other funds movements during the past year

are in the process of being raised through the

in the basis of recognising the transitional

at balance sheet date. It is the opinion of

were collectively not material and are shown,

Development Bank of Southern Africa to finance

liability in respect of accrued sabbatical leave

management that it would be impracticable to

investments (so-called “fair value adjustments”)
which, in turn, were attributable to the global
economic crisis. The Revaluation Reserve fell to
its lowest level in the past five years and, at 31
December 2008, stood at R81.8 million (2007
:R222.9 million). This represented only 7% of
the total funds balance at year end compared
to approximately 20% at 31 December 2007.

and incorporated in the balance sheet. The
consolidated fund balances at 31 December
2008 amounted to R840.7 million (2007 :R868.5
million) and reflect an overall net decrease of
R27.8 million, or 3.2%, relative to the opening
balances. The composition of the University’s
consolidated funds at 31 December 2008 is
shown in TABLE 6 above.
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Audit (continued)

Financial Planning (continued)

carry out this exercise at the present time and

confidence as to the University’s compliance

externally-funded affiliates and in respect of

The five-year plan is currently undergoing review

alternatively to generate, new funding sources

its reporting obligations and deadlines on a

that the cost of doing so would exceed the

with prevailing reporting frameworks and

private research grants and contracts.

and revision to incorporate, first, the funding

in the form of endowments, research grants

timely basis. A special word of appreciation is

benefits derived. This non-compliance prevails,

statutes, as well as its “going concern” status.

implications of the University’s Strategic Plan for

and third-stream income. For this to happen, it

extended to the Chairpersons and members

The prevailing five-year (“rolling”) financial plan

the ten year period 2007 to 2016 and, secondly,

must have in place an efficient financial system

of the Audit & Risk and Finance Committees,
who have provided sound advice and guidance

to varying degrees, throughout the higher
education sector. The Department of Education

Financial Planning

(for the period 2008 to 2012) was presented

the assessed effects of significant changes

that is not only capable of effectively managing

(“DoE”) has been approached in the hope of

Subsequent to the 2007 financial yearend, the

to, and approved by, the University Council in

in the University’s operating environment.

and accounting for the University’s finances,

adopting a practicable alternative approach.

University management revised its five-year

February 2008. It is premised on sound budgeting

These changes include recent deviations

but also one that instills confidence in those

Irrespective of whether any concessions are

institutional financial plan. This followed on

principles and a series of planning assumptions

from the student enrolment plan, revisions

who depend on its services. The attainment of

forthcoming from this quarter, it remains the

the earlier work of the Budget Working Group

relating

enrolments,

in other underlying growth assumptions,

an enabling environment that is consistent with

which developed a structured budgetary

government grants and subsidies, third-

particularly those influencing input costs,

the University’s vision and capable of delivering

stream income, defined strategic allocations,

and the re-prioritisation of projects making

on its strategic plan remains a key objective

personnel costs and other key components

up the infrastructural development and capital

for the senior management in the Finance

of the University’s income and expenditure.

expenditure programmes.

Division. Much, however, remains to be done in

objective and commitment of management
to ensure that the University’s fixed assets
recording and control systems are sufficiently
reliable to obviate the ongoing need for an
audit qualification. This is likely to occur once
the present capital programme draws to a
close, following which it will be possible to
focus more attention on compliance with the
relevant IFRS requirements.

framework that was designed,

first, to

achieve the University’s financial viability and,
thereafter, to work towards its sustainability
in the medium- to longer-term. The most
significant challenge facing the University in
the short-term is to reverse the current trend
of operating deficits in respect of its Councilcontrolled funds and to put in place a realistic

Despite the above qualification, the auditors are
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plan that will enable it to return to a break-even

variously

to

student

this respect. The finance optimisation process

Moreover, in a bid to first address and resolve
the pattern of prevailing deficits, its attainment

A Commitment to Good

that was introduced during 2008

is forecast over a realistic (five year) time-frame.

Governance, Accountability

accompanied by ongoing efforts to rebuild the

The plan therefore provides for a gradual

and Service Delivery

Finance Division’s capacity – both in numbers

restoration of financial viability by incorporating

The creation of a culture of good corporate and

and in the levels and calibre of professional

a migration strategy during the implementation

financial governance that is, in turn, fostered by a

leadership and technical accounting skills –

of the University’s custom-designed Resource

strong sense of accountability and transparency,

and thereby improve its service delivery to the

Allocation Model, as well as a number of interim

is crucially dependent on the Finance Division’s

University community.

is being

satisfied that all other elements of the financial

situation and, in time, to generate modest

statements fairly present the University’s financial

operating surpluses. A combination of cost

targets and benchmarks for budgetholders to

capability to produce regular, timely, accurate

position and the results of its operations, and

curtailment and income generation strategies

work towards in meeting the desired objectives.

and relevant financial reports.

their opinion on page 81 is framed accordingly.

has been adopted. One such initiative is that

Its acceptance – both by Council and, more

report is one such example of the University’s

I wish to take this opportunity to thank our

Equally, the University Council and management,

of an enhanced system of internal overhead

widely, by the University community – has been

commitment to public accountability.

externally-contracted

in affirming their respective responsibilities, both

recoveries to better account for the significant,

accompanied by an acknowledged need to

attest to the integrity and fair presentation of

and ever-increasing, support (both direct and

instil within all concerned the requisite levels of

So, too, the University’s reputation depends on –

the financial statements, and can report with

indirect) rendered by the University to its many

fiscal discipline and accountability.

and, in turn, is influenced by – its ability to attract,
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This annual

on a number of key issues in the course of
finalising the 2008 financial statements and the
audit thereof. They are to be thanked for the
thorough interrogation of all reports and draft
financial statements presented to them. This
has been done in the spirit of good governance,
an objective that is both commendable and
to which all who are entrusted with financial
responsibility should remain steadfast. The
University’s stakeholders deserve nothing less
of its financial custodians.

Thanks and Conclusion
consultants

for

their

valued assistance and, also, those members of
staff in the Finance Division who went beyond

Mr RH Clarkson

the call of duty to enable the University to meet

Chief Finance Officer
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Council’s Statement of Responsibility
for the Financial Statements

Independent Auditors’ Report

31 December 2008

The Council is responsible for the preparation, integrity and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements of the University of
KwaZulu-Natal.									
									
The financial statements presented on pages 82 to 109 of this annual report for 2008 have, except as stated in note 31 (page 105), been
prepared in accordance with South African Statements of Generally Accepted Accounting Practice ("GAAP") as prescribed by the Minister of
Education in the regulations in terms of the Higher Education Act (No. 101 of 1997), as amended. Compliance with GAAP requires, inter alia,
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported amounts of assets, liabilities,
income and expenses. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors that are believed
to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making judgements about the carrying values of certain assets
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates. These estimates and underlying
assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. The Council also prepared other information as required to be included in this annual report and
is responsible for both its accuracy and consistency with the financial statements.								
The ‘going concern’ basis has been adopted in the preparation of these financial statements. The Council has no reason to believe that the
University of KwaZulu-Natal will not be a going concern in the foreseeable future, based on forecasts and available cash resources. The viability
of the University is supported by the financial statements.									
									
The financial statements have been audited by the independent auditing firms, KPMG Inc. and SAB & T Inc., who have been given unrestricted
access to all financial records and related data, including minutes of meetings of the Council and all its committees. The Council believes that
all representations made to the independent auditors during their audit were valid and appropriate.						
			
									

Approval of the Consolidated Annual Financial Statements				
				

The consolidated annual financial statements set out on pages 82 to 109 were approved by the Council of the University of KwaZulu-Natal on
26 June 2009 and are signed on its behalf by :-									
									

									
									

M MIA								
Chair of Council							
								
								

PROFESSOR MW MAKGOBA					
Vice-Chancellor and Principal					

80

2008

annual
report

M JEAN-LOUIS			
Chair of Audit and Risk Committee			

RH CLARKSON			
Chief Finance Officer			

TO THE MEMBERS OF THE COUNCIL OF THE UNIVERSITY OF KWAZULU-NATAL						
		
We have audited the consolidated annual financial statements of the University of KwaZulu-Natal, set out on pages 82 to 109, which comprise
the consolidated balance sheet at 31 December 2008, and the consolidated income statement, the consolidated statement of changes in funds
and the consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended, and the notes to the financial statements, which include a summary of
significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes.
			
Council's Responsibility for the Financial Statements
								
The University Council is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with South African
Statements of Generally Accepted Accounting Practice and in the manner required by the Minister of Education in terms of section 41 of the
Higher Education Act of South Africa. This responsibility includes: designing, implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the
preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and
applying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.				
					
Auditors' Responsibility
								
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance
with International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with relevant ethical requirements and plan and perform the
audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.					
				
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures
selected depend on our judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditors consider internal controls relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation of the
financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the entity's internal controls. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.
									
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our qualified opinion.			
						
Basis for Qualified Opinion
								
As indicated in note 31 to the financial statements, depreciation for each component of items of property, plant and equipment with a cost that
is significant in relation to the total cost of the item has not been separately calculated, nor have the residual values and useful lives of such
assets been reassessed at the year end, as required by South African Statement of Generally Accepted Accounting Practice AC 123 (IAS 16)
Property, Plant and Equipment. An estimate of the financial effect of the above has not been made by the University and it is impracticable for
us to quantify the effect.		
							
Qualified Opinion
								
In our opinion, except for the effect of the matter referred to in the Basis for Qualified Opinion paragraph, the financial statements present fairly,
in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of the University of KwaZulu-Natal at 31 December 2008 and its consolidated financial
performance and consolidated cash flows for the year then ended, in accordance with South African Statements of Generally Accepted Accounting
Practice, and in the manner required by the Minister of Education in terms of section 41 of the Higher Education Act of South Africa.
								
KPMG Inc.							
SAB & T Inc.			
Registered Auditors						
Registered Auditors						
						

Per J Datadin			
20 Kingsmead Boulevard		
Chartered Accountant (SA)		
Kingsmead Office Park		
Registered Auditor		
Durban				
Director				
4001				
26 June 2009							

Per D Nathoo			
Chartered Accountant (SA)		
Registered Auditor		
Director Durban		
4091		

SABS Building		
15 Garth Road		
Mayville		
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